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Conselidated financial statemenis
International Schools Partnership Limited
Registered number 09817502

Consolidated strategic report

The Directors present the Strategic report and the financial statements of International Schoels Partnership Limited (("the
Company™). together with its subsidiaries (“the Group™)) for the year ended 31 August 2022,

Group’s principal activitics and events of the 2022 financial year

The Company is a private company incorporated, domiciled and registered in England in the UK. The registered number
is 09817502 and the registered address is 100 New Bridge Street. London. United Kingdom. EC4V 6JA. The ultimate
controlling parent is International Schools Partnership [ S.a.r.] by virtue of its shareholding in the immediate parcnt
company. Permotio International Learning S.a.r.l. The ultimate controlling party is Partners Group Access 188 PF LP,

The core activity of the Group is kindergarten through to twelfth grade (K-12) education. Through its subsidiaries the
Company acquires, operates and builds schools around the world. creating a global schools Group incorporating schools
with an international outlook, which are or can become the school of choice in their local area. At the year end date the
Group owned and eperated 60 (2021: 51) schools with circa 54,244 (2021: 46,936} children enrolled from 2-18 ycars of
ape studying in the Uniled Kingdom. Spain. ltaly, Switzerland. Mexico. Malaysia, Costa Rica, the USA, Canada, Qatar,
the United Arab Emirates, Ecuador, Chile, Peru, Colombia, India and Vietnam. The schools offer a diverse and enriching
educational experience spanning British, Malaysian, International, Mexican, US, Costa Rica, Peruvian, Chilean,
Colombian and Spanish curricula.

Duuring the year. the Group made six acquisitions (202 1: five acquisitions): Riviera Preparatory and Day Schools (Miami,
USA), Mosaic Ecole (Geneva. Switzerland). Straits International Education Group (Kuala Lumpur & Penang. Malaysia).
Colegio Terranova (Quito, Ecuador}, $t. Mary's School (Hyderabad. India) and Star International School (Dubai, UAE).
In addition, the Group opened two new schools in Vietnam in August 2022 and closed one schoo! in Baton Rouge in May
2022, Postyear end the Group has added five further schools based in Panama, India, Italy and Poland, bringing the number
of schools it owns and operates to 65.

The Group completed an equity refinancing in July 2021 to raise further equity capital for future acquisitions. The
refinancing resulted in Partners Group retaining a majority shareholding but also included investment by a new minority
sharcholder, OMERS (“Ontario Municipal Employees Retirement System™). The debt facility agreement with Arcmont
Asset Management, Goldman Sachs Asset Management and Santander UK Ple was also amended to retlect additional draw
down facilities and revised financial covenants. The changes in equity and the debt facilities are disclosed in more detail
within the relevant netes 1o the financial statements.

Results and position
The Group had net assets of €260.862_.000 as at 31 August 2022 (2021: €110,510,000}) and has made a loss of €(57.443,000)

during the financial year 2022 (2021 €(94,267,000)), which will be carricd forward to the following financial year.
Included in the loss for the year is a loss of €(7,401,000) from discontinued operations (2021: €(1,004.000)), related to the
closure of the school in Baten Rouge in May 2022. Revenue for the financial year 2022 was €404.139.000 (2021:
€294.011.000*). The year-on-vear movements are mainly attributable to the acquisition of new schools in 2022.

The Group's Directors assess performance and business risk using regular reporting by each subsidiary and investment
which includes monitoring against agreed budgets and a set of key performance indicators (“KPIs”). The KPls comprise
both financial and non-financial measures. Non-financial KP[s primarily include ratios relating to student enrolments and
staffing, but alse incorporate other key metrics associated with health and safety. the learning performance of the school
and academic results. The key KPIs are as follows:

Year ended Year ended

31 August 2022 31 August 2021

Number of pupils 54.244 46.936
Number of schools 60 51
Adjusted EBITDA (€°000)** 82.604 46,796*

* The comparalive information is restated due 10 a discontinucd operation. See¢ note 12 for further information.

** Adjusted Earnings Belore Interest, Taxcs, Depreciation and Amertisation (“EBITDA™} is calculated by adding back the
fotllowing amounts 1o the operating loss: Depreciation of property, plant & equipment. Impairment of property plant &
cquipment. Amortisation of intangible assets and lmpairment of intangible assets. A reconciliation between statutory
GAAP measures and adjusted EBITDA is included on page 13.
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Consolidated strategic report (continued)

Results and position {continued)
During this financial year, the Group continued to experience disruption due 1o the COVID-19 pandemic, Although many

schools reopened as restrictions were lifted. some schools continued to operate blended learning where needed (mixture of
on premise and distance learning). The main impact in 2022 was that the Group's ancillary revenue have still not returned
10 pre-pandemic levels. The total impact of COVID-19 which includes subsidies given to parents, lost income on other
services net of savings [rom furloughing staff and controlling expenditure is estimated to be around €11.0 million in the
year ended 31 August 2022 (2021: €9.1 million).

Although we arc now through the worst threats of the COVID-19 pandetnic, we continue to live in challenging times with
the war in Ukraine and the ¢flects of climate change around the world creating heightened uncertainty. Rising inflation,
slowing economic growth, an energy crisis. increasing interest rates, labour shortages and changes in consumer bechaviour
are just some of the risks the busincss currently faces. During the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group demonstrated
adaptability and resifience in adjusting rapidly to the situation and will carry through the current economic chalienges with
the same resolve. The safety and wellbeing of our students. colleagues and families remains our top priority. The Board of
Directors continue to manage the financial risks ¢n a regular basis. Forecasting, budgets and going concern asscssments
have been updated 1o respond to the increased economic risks imposing on the business.

The change in the key KPis above reflects both the acquisitions made (in the current and prior year) and the capital
investment in existing schaols to increase capacity. The increase in pupils reflects the varying size of the schools acquired
during the financial year 2022 as well as growth in the underlying schools. The increase in adjusted EBITDA is attributable
to the acquisitions made within the vear and the organic performance of the Group.

Kev risks and uncertainties
The management of the business and the execution of the Group’s strategy are subject to several risks. The key business
risks affecting the Group arc set out below:

Enrolments

Increasing enrolments in our schools is critical to financial performance. The Group continues to invest and improve the
facilities and learning at the schools to retain and attract new students. The Group regularly reports on pipeline students as
well as existing students so that the outlook is monitored. We continue to invest in our marketing and admissions capability
particularly in the digital space to promote our schools as widcly as possible.

Emplovees
The Group’s performance depends on its head teachers and stafT in each of its schools and the expertise in the various

regional tcams. The resignation of key individuals and the inability to recruit people with the right experience and skills
from either local, national or international communities could adversely impact the Group”s results. To mitigate these risks,
the Group hag invested in a leading recruitment tool and has implemented a consistent review process, personal
development programmes and succession planning for key employees and regularly monitors its reward structure to ensure
that it retains key employees. In addition, the Group has well established recruitment processes to enable us to source high
quality replacement staff and it has continucd to invest in Group and regional specialist employees to support the on-going
expansion of the Group. The Greup regularly surveys its cmployees using NPS data to provide feedback to the schools and
determine actions to improve employee engagement.

License to operate
To operate our schools, we maintain various accreditations trom curriculum providers and licenses from local education

authorities. If any of our schools fails to meet the required standard, it could lose its license which could materially
adverscly affect our business prospects. Our regional structures include a regional managing director, supported by a
director of learning who supports the regional managing director and head teachers 10 ensurc that we meet the required
educational standards and a regional head of property who supports the regional managing dircctor on ensuring that schools
are wcll invested and licences are maintained.

Fee increases

The Group needs to be able to sustain fee increases going forward to cover increases in operational costs, provide continual
improvements in the students learning and provide investment in the schools” facilities. Each school’s ability to increase
fees is dependent on several [actors including local competition, quality of education at the school. local demographic and
parcni satisfaction as well as the local inflation rates.

(¥
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Consolidated strategic report (continued)
Key risks and uncertainties (continued)
Financial risks
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including cash flow. foreign currency. interest
rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

Risk management is carricd out by the Board of Directors. The Group’s objective when managing capital is to safeguard
its ability to continue as a going concern, to provide returns to the shareholders and to maintain an appropriate capital
structure to optimise the cost of capital.

(a) Market Risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices. such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates witl affect the Group's
income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and
control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return.

(a)(i) Foreign currency risk

Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the fair value ol future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in foreign exchanges rates. The Group has limited exposure 1o currency risk as revenue and costs are generally in
the same currency. It has some currency risk on certain purchases {accounting. audit and administrative services) that are
denominated in a currency other than the functional currency. Foreign currency translation risk will continue to be
significant given the diverse portfolio. A significant weakening of a currency in a region could adversely impact the value
of future dividends from investments in that region. To mitigate foreign currency risk the Group holds bank accounts in all
the currencies that the Group operates in. The Group acquired a school in one new country during the year, [ndia, further
adding 1o foreign currency risk on repatriated earnings.

(a)(ii) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes
in market interest rates. The Group’s risk management strategy to protect the cash flows and minimise the adverse impact
of increases in variable market interest rates is to enter into offsetting interest rate cap or swap contracts to fix the interest
on its borrowings from third partics. The Group may formally designate one or more of these derivative financial
instruments as a hedging relationship, subject to hedge accounting, if it meets all the qualifying effectiveness requirements.

{b) Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that any counterparly will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract,
leading 1o a financial loss. The Group typically invoices customers in advance and has policies in place covering subsequent
cash collection. which include regular review of outstanding receivables.

The carrying amount of current receivables represents the maximum credit exposure.

(c) Liguidity risk

‘The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash balances and borrowing facilitics, loans granted by the
shareholders, continueusly monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets
and liabilities. The Group also performs regular cash forccasting at the subsidiary level along with the funding required for
central and local cost centres. Funding for new transactions, including duc diligence and other pre-transaction costs. is
assessed and drawn down on a case-by-case basis.

Environmental matters

The Group's activity has a minimal impact on the environment, however, the directors believe that good environmental
practices support the broader strategy of enhancing the reputation of the Group as well as fostering staff. parcnts and
students morale. The Group is committed 10 reducing its Carbon emissions as well as emission of other greenhouse gases
and encourages energy and waste saving initiatives. The Group has committed to an initiative which will see it plant a tree
for every student and employee using a reforestation specialist company. Tree Nation and is also investing in instailing
solar power across its schools.

Greenhouse gas emissions, energy consumption and energy efficiency action

The use of resources to supply educational services indirectly utilises finite global resources. The source ol the raw
materials and the supply of educational serviccs is spread globally. We recognise. that our services indirectly utilise global
resources some of which arc limited in their nature.
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Consolidated strategic report (continued)

Greenhouse gas emissions, energy consumption and energy efficiency action (continued)

The footprint from our UK operations is as follows:

| Year ended 31 August 2022 [ Year ended 31 August 2021
Carbon emissions in UK Energy usage Tonnes of CO:e Energy usage Tonnes of COze
{kWh) {kWh)

Scope | (gas) 633,525 116 920.280 169

Scope 2 {electricity) 1,198,150 262 699,378 179

Total footprint in UK 1,831,675 378 1,619,658 348

Eroup intensity measurement €000 €000

Turnover in UK 11.002 9 998

Emissions reported above per €000 0.03 0.03
| of turnover |

The above has been calculated using information from suppliets and estimating fuel usage based on expenditure. Emissions
were determined by applying the UK government conversion factors to the energy consumption values and aggregating
the total.

Elforts are made to ensure that the footprint from the services we provide in the UK operations is minimised by reviews of
inefficient operational practices and avoiding suppliers or regions where the employment or environmental practices are
known 1o be below acceptable standards.

Human rights issues

The Group ensures that its business activities are conducted with the objective of protecting human rights of both teachers
and students. Stalf arc strongly encouraged to report abuse, either to their line manager or to other members of the
managerial hierarchy. The qualities of respect and dignity constitute the foundation of the services we provide and the
impertance of human rights forms one of the foundations of our business.

International Schools Partnership and the community
The Group has grown by acquisition of geographically and culturally diverse entities, and we have benefitted from pre-

existing relationships of our staff and teachers with the community. These relationships ensure stafl’ and teachers and
students lead happy, rewarding lives during their student years. Schools have direct involvement in a number of community
based initiatives which help 10 enhance the schools” relationships with local communities.

Research and development
During the financial year, the Group has invested €1.0 million (2021: €0.8 million) in its proprietary lcarning and sharing

platform (The Learning Hub) which is available to all staff.

Acquisition of own shares
During the financial vear, International Schools Partnership [.imited has not bought back any of its own shares (2021:
purchased 1 of its own ordinary shares at a value of €1).

Branches of the Company
During the financial year. the Company has not held any branches.

Going concern
The directors have prepared cash flow forecasts for a period of at least 12 months [rom the date of approval of thesc

financial statements which indicate that, taking account of reasonably plausible. but severe, downsides, the Company and
Group will have sufficient funds, both through the currently available debt facilities and equity commilments. to meet
liabilities as they fall due for that period. The forecasts indicate that the Company and Group will have sufficient cash and
lacilities to operate with a satisfactory level of headroom against the covenants in the debt facilities. Consequently, the
dirgctors are confident that the Company and Group will have sufficient funds to continue to meet their liabilities as they
fali due for at least 12 months from the date of approval of the (inancial statements and therefore have prepared the financial
statements on a going concern basis. Please refer to note | of the financial statements for the detailed management
assessment.

5
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Consolidated strategic report (continued)

Future cutlook
Management are committed to growing the business, by investing in facilitics. creating new capacity and improving the
education provision at the existing schools as well as acquiring new schools.

After the reporting date the Group has acquired five new schools and drawn down on more funding. Sce subsequent events,
note 31. for further information.

Statement by the Directors in performance of their statutory duties in accordance with s172(1)
Companies Act 2006

The Directors of Intemational Schools Parinership Limited consider that they have behaved in the way that would be most likely 1o promote the
suceess of the Company for the berefit of 1ts members as a whole (with regards to the stakeholders and matters set out in s172 (1) {a to f) of the
Companies Act) in the decisions taken during the year ended 31 August 2032

Specific matters detanled in s172 and the actions taken by the Directors with regards to these matters are summarised below:

Matters

Likely consequences of any
decision 1n the long term

Interests of the Group’s
employees

Need to foster the
Company s business
relationships with suppliers,
customers and others

[mpact of the Company s
operations on the
commumty and the
environment

Desirability of the Group
maintaining a reputation for
high standards of business
conduct

Need to act fairly as
between members of the
Company

Actions

Annually, the Board undenakes a review of the Company s strategy, including the
budget for the forthcomng year and the plan for the next five years. Once
appraved, the plan and strategy form the basis for financial budgets and resource
and investment dectsions Both input to the budgets and output in 2erms of degision
making involves both the Board and senier management In making decisions
concerning the business plan and future strategy, the Boeard has regard to the
interests of vanous stakeholders and the consequences of its decisions in the long-
term.

Our employees are fundamental to the success of the business. We aim to be a
respansible employer 1n our approach to the pay and benefits that our employees
receive and ensurc that we adhere to all staiutory emplovee health and safety
standards

We are committed to securing strong working relationships with both our
suppliers and customers in order to accentuate the performance of the Group,
optumise the resources available to om employees and the experience of our
pupils. We require that all companics within the Group ensure that suppliers
adhere to acceptable emplovment, industry and environmental practices.
Managing good customer relations 1s a key area of focus which is supported by
regular feedback surveys

Recycling and reducing carbon footprint are widely encouraged throughout the
Group and amongst cmplovees The Group has also unplemented initiatives
mentioned in “Environmental matters’, such as use of solar power and plantng a
tree for every student in the Group, to raise awareness of environmental matters
and get students engaged in the issue

Qur intentien 15 to behave tesponsbly and ensure that management operate the
business in a responsible manner and within high standards of business conduct
and good govemance.,

The Board is commutted to openly engaging with our sharehelders, whether with
institutiona! investors or private shareholders It is important that shareholders
understand our strategy and objectives.

This report was approved by the board on 27 February 2023 and signed on its behalf.

K
'R (.
k“ - R

Darren Mee

Chief Financial Officer

Consideration and
engagement

Annual budget,
S-year plan.

Empleyee reviews and
appraisals.

Exit surveys Bonus

schemes. Health and
safety cenification.

Staff raining.
Customer surveys.

Recycling. Green-house
gas CMISSINS review

Audit commuttees.
Nonexeeutive
Dhrector

appointments.

Board

Director meetings with
shareholders.
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Consolidated Directors’ report

The Directors present their report and the financial statements for the vear ended 31 August 2022 for the Company
and Group.

Proposed dividend
The directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend (2021: €nil).

Directors

The directors who held office during the year and to the date ol signing the financial statements were as follows:
S D R Brown

1. M Bucher

A D Deakin

(i Dray (Appointed 5 May 2022)

1 W Frankish (Appointed 15 Noevember 2022)
Z 1. lloworth

D Mce

J Mussellwhite (Resigned 15 November 2022}
R J Robson

ualifying third part
The Company has granted an indemnity to one or more of its directors against liability in respect of proceedings
brought by third parties, subject 1o conditions set out in section 234 of the Companies Act 2006. Such qualifying
third-party indemnity provisions remain in force as at the date of this report.

Political contributions
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries made any political donations or incurred any political expenditure
during the vear (2021: none).

Matters covered in the Strategic report

As permitted by Paragraph 1A of schedule 7 to the Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts
and Reports) Regulations 2008 certain matters which are required to be disclosed in the directors” report have been
omitted as they are included in the stratcgic report instead. These matters relate to business review, future
developments, principal risks and uncertainties and financial key performance indicators. In addition, the Strategic
report includes a statement summarising how the directors have had regard to the need to foster the Group’s
business relationships with suppliers, customers and others, and the effect of that regard, including on the principal
decisions taken by the Group during the financial year.

Disclosure of information to auditor

The directors who held office at the date of approval of this directors’ report confirm that, so far as they are each
aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Group’s auditor is unaware; and cach director has taken
all the steps that they ought to have taken as a director to make themselves awarc of any relevant audit information
and to establish that the Group’s auditors is aware of that information.

Other information
An indication of likely futurc developments in the business and particulars of significant events which have
occurred since the end of the financial vear have been included in the Strategic Repon on page 6.

Auditor
Pursuant to Section 487 of the Companies Act 2006, the auditor will be deemed to be reappointed and KPMG LLP

will therefore continue in office.
By order of the board

5

Lot

Darren Mee
Chicf Financial Officer

27 February 2023
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STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE
STRATEGIC REPORT, THE DIRECTORS’ REPORT AND THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

‘The directors are responsible for preparing Strategic Report. the Directors’ Report and the Group and parent
Company financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare Group and parent Company financial statements tor each financial
year. Under that law they have clected to prepare both the Group and the parcnt Company linancial statcments in
accordance with UK-adopted international accounting standards and applicable taw.

Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they arc satisfied that they give
a true and fair view of the state ol aifairs of the Group and parent Company and of thic Group's protit or loss for
that period. In preparing each of the Group and parent Company financial slatements, the directors are required
to:

e seleet suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistentty:
* make judgements and cstimates that are reasonable, relevant and reliable:
e statc whether they have been prepared in accordance with UK-adopted international accounting standards;

e assess the Group and parent Company’s ability 10 continue as a going concern. disclosing, as applicable.
matters related to going concern; and

e usc the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the Group or the parent
Company or to ¢ease operations, or have no realistic alternative but 10 do so.

The directors are responsible for keeping adeguate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the
parent Company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial pesition of the
parent Company and enable them to ensure that its financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006.
They are responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary (o enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and have general responsibility
for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the Group and te prevent and detect
fraud and other irregularities.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF INTERNATIONAL
SCHOQLS PARTNERSHIP LIMITED (continued)

Opinion

We have audited the financial statemenis of International Schools Partnership Limited (“the Company™) for the
year ended 31 August 2022, which comprise the consolidated statement of comprehensive income/(loss),
consolidated statement of financial position. consolidated statement of cash flows, consolidated statement of
changes in equity, company balance sheet, company statement of changes in equity and related notes, including
the accounting policics in note 2.

In our opinion:

» the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the parent Company’s
affairs as at 31 August 2022 and of the Group’s loss for the year then ended;

e the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK-adopted intcrnational
accounting standards:

e the parcnt Company financial statements have been properly preparcd in accordance with UK accounting
standards including FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework; and

»  the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Imernational Standards on Auditing (UK) (“[SAs (UK})”) and
applicable law. Our responsibilitics are described below. We have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities under, and
arc independent of the Group in accerdance with, UK ethical requirements including the FRC Ethical Standard.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is a sufficient and appropriate basis for our opinion.

Going concern

The directors have prepared the financial statements on the going concern basis as they do not intend to liquidate
the Group or the Company or to cease their operations, and as they have concluded that the Group and the
Company’s financial position means that this is realisiic. They have also concluded that there are no material
uncertainties that could have cast significant doubt over their ability to continue as a going concern for at least a
ycar from the date of approval of the financial statements (“thc going concern period™).

In our evaluation of the directors” conclusions. we considered the inherent risks to the Group's business model and

analysed how those risks might affect the Group and Company’s financial resources or ability 1o continue
operations over the going concern period.

Cur conclusions hased on this work:

* we consider that the directors™ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial
statements is appropriate;

» wc have not identified, and concur with the directors™ asscssment that there is not, a material uncertainty
related to events or conditions that. individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Group or
the Company's ability to continue as a going concern for the going concem period.

However, as we cannot predict all future events or conditions and as subsequent events may result in outcomes
that are inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at the time they were made, the above conclusions are
not a guarantec that the Group or the Company will continue in operation.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF INTERNATIONAL
SCHOOLS PARTNERSHIP LIMITED {(continued)

Fraud and breaches of laws and regulations — ability to detect
Identifying and responding to risks of material misstatement due to fraud

To identity risks of material misstatement duc to fraud ("fraud risks"y we assessed events or conditions that could
indicate an incentive or pressure to commit fraud or provide an opportunity to commit fraud. Our risk assessment
procedures included:

* Lnquiring of directors and management as to the Group's high-level policies and procedures to prevent and
detect fraud. including the Group’s channel for “whistleblowing™ as well as whether they have knowledge of
any actual. suspected or alleged fraud:

* Reading Board meeting minutes; and

* Using analytical procedures to identify any unusual or uneapected relationships.

We communicated identified fraud risks throughout the audit team and remained alert to any indications of fraud
throughout the audit. This included communication from the Group audit team to full scope component audit ieams
of relevant fraud risks identified at the Group level and request to full scope component audit tcams to report 1o
the Group audit team any instances of fraud that could give rise to a material misstatement at the Group level.

As required by auditing standards, and taking into account possible pressures to meet profit targets, we perform

procedures to address the risk of management override of controls and the risk of fraudulent revenue recognition,

in particular;

* the risk that Group and component management may be in a position to make inappropriate accounting entries;

® the risk of bias in accounting estimates such as goodwill impairment and business combination accounting;
and

® the risk that revenue is overstated through recording revenues in the wrong period.

We did not identify any additional fraud risks.

We performed procedures including:

» ldentifying journal entries and other adjustments to test for all full scope components based on risk criteria
and comparing the identified entries to supporting documentation. These included those posted to unusual or
unexpeeted accounts where one side of the journal was posted to cash. or where the credit side of the journal
was posted to revenue; and

*  Assessing whether the judgements made in making accounting estimates arc indicative of a potential bias
Idenifying and responding 1o risks of material misstatement due to non-compliance with laws and regulations

We identified areas of laws and regulations that could reasonably be expected to have a material effect on the
linancial statements from our general commercial and sector experience. and through discussion with the dircctors
and other management (as required by auditing standards) and discussed with the directors and other management
the policies and procedurcs regarding compliance with laws and regulations.

We communicated identified laws and regulations throughout our team and remained alert 1o any indications of
non-compliance throughout the audit. This included communication from the Group audit team to full-scope
component audit teams of relevant laws and regulations identified at the Group level. and a request for full scape
component auditors to report to the Group audit 1eam any instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations
that ¢ould give rise to a material misstatement at the Group level.

The potential effect of these laws and regulations on the financial statements varies considerably.

tirstly, the Group is subject to laws and regulations that directly affect the financial statements including financial
reporting legislation (including relatcd companies legislation), distributable profits legislation and taxation
legislation, and we assessed the extent of compliance with these laws and regulations as part of our procedures on
the related financial statement items.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF INTERNATIONAL
SCHOOGLS PARTNERSHIP LIMITED (continued)

Sccondly, the Group is subject to many other laws and regulations where the consequences of non-compliance
could have a material effect on amounts or disclosures in the financial stalements, for instance through the
imposition of fines or litigation. We identificd the following arcas as those most likely to have such an effect:
health and safety, data protection laws, anti-bribery. education regulations and cmployment law. Auditing
standards limit the required audit procedures to identifly non-compliance with these laws and regulations to cnquiry
of the directors and other management and inspection of regulatory and legal correspondence, if any. Therefore,
if a breach of operational regulations is not disclosed to us or evident from relevant correspondence. an audit will
not detect that breach.

Context of the ahility of the andit 1o detect fraud or breaches of law or regulation

Owing 1o the inherent limitations of an audit. there is an unavoeidable risk that we may not have detected some
matcrial misstatements in the financial statements. even though we have properly planned and performed our audit
in accordance with auditing standards. For example, the further removed non-compliance with laws and
regulations is from the events and transactions reflected in the financial statements, the less fikely the inherently
limited procedures required by auditing standards would identify it.

In addition, as with any audit, there remained a higher risk of non-detection of fraud. as these may involve
collusion. forgery. intentional omissions. misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls, Our audit
procedures arc designed to detect material misstaternent. We are not responsible for preveating non-compliance
or fraud and cannot be expected to detect non-compliance with all laws and regulations.

Strategic report and directors’ report

The directors are responsible for the strategic report and the directors’ report.  Qur opinion on the financial
statements does not cover those reports and we do not express an audit opinion thercon.

Cur responsibility is to read the strategic report and the directors™ report and. in doing so. consider whether. based
on our financial statements audit work, the information therein is materially misstated or inconsistent with the

financial statements or our audit knowledge. Based solely on that work:
. we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report and the directors’ report:

. in our opinion the information given in those reports for the financial year is consistent with the financial
statements; and

. in our opinion those reports have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

Under the Companies Act 2006, we are required to report to you if, in our epinion:

s adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent Company. or returns adequate for our audit
have not been received from branches not visited by us: or

s the parent Company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

s certain disclosures of directors” remuneration specified by law are not made; or

»  we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

We have nothing to report in these respects.



T Y

KPMG

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF INTERNATIONAL
SCHOOLS PARTNERSHIP LIMITED {(continued)

Directors’ responsibilitics

As explained more fully in their statemcnt set out on page 8. the dircetors are responsible for; the preparation of’
the financial statements and for being satistied that thev give a truc and fair view; such internal contrel as they
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error; assessing the Group and parent Company’s ability to continue as a going concem.
disclosing. as applicable, matters related to going concern: and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
they cither intend to liquidate the Group or the parent Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue our opinion in an auditor’s report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee that an audit conducted in accordunce with ISAs
(UK) will always detect 2 material misstatcment when it exists, Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reascnably be expected to influence the
cconomic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

A fuller description of our responsibilitics is  provided on thc FRC's  website at
www fre.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilitics.

The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities

This report is made solely to the Company's members, as a body. in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006, Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state 10 the Company’s members
those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accepl or assume responsibility o anyonc other than the Company and the Company s
members, as a body, for our audit work, for this report. or for the opinions we have formed.

—r

! AEUIU'L

Paul Barron (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants

15 Canada Square.

London,

El4 5GL

27 February 2023



Consolidated financial statements
International Schools Partnership Limited
Registered number 09817502

Group consolidated statement of comprehensive income / (loss)
from 1 September 2021 to 31 August 2022

Year ended 31 August 2022

Yerr ended 31 August 2021

Restated*
Note
Non- Non-

Underlying  Underlying Total Underlying Underlying Total
(in €000's)
Revenue -2 & 6- 404,139 - 404,139 264,011 - 294,011
Cost of sales -7 & §- (297 502) - (297,507 (213.097) - (213,097}
Other costs -7 & 8- (4.887) - (4,887) {6.530) - {6,330)
Acquisitions and business explorations -4~ - (9,107) (9,107) - 15,963 {5,963)
Refinancing a4 - (1,660) (1,660) - (16.345) {16.345)
Restructuring costs -4- - (8,379 18379} - (5.280) {5,283
Adjusted EBITDA 101,750 {19,146) 82,604 74,384 (27,588; 46,796
Deprectation and amortisation -7- (69.994) (50.266)
Operating profit / (loss) 12,610 (3,470)
Finance ingome 160 191
Finance cost (54,525) {92,145}
Finance costs - net -9- {54.425) (91.954})
Loss bf:fure tax from continuing (41,815) (95,424)
operations
Tax (charge) / credit -10- (8217 2,161
Loss ﬁ?r the year from continuning (50,032) (93,263)
operations
Loss for the year‘fmm discontinued 12- (7.401) (1,004}
operations, net of tax
Loss for the year (§7,433) {94,267)
Attribntablc to
-Non-controlling interest (116} 21
-Equity holders of the parent (57,317} (94,288)
Other comprehensive income / (loss)
Qther comprehensive tncome / (loss)
that may be reclassified ta profit or loss
in subsequent periods (ner of tax):
Dufferences on exchange of foreign
operations 69,649 (5,983)
Net gain on cash flow hedges -19- 21,274 -
Net change in cost of hedging -19- (1.548) -
Net other comprehensive income / 89375 (5.983)
{loss) K B
fl otal comprehensive income / (loss) 31,942 (100,250}

or the year —

Attributable fo
-Non-controlling interest (123) 33
-Equity holders of the parent 32,065 {100,283}

*The comparative nformation 15 restated due to a discentinued operation and a change in classification See note 12 for further informanon.
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consohdated financial statements.
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Consolidated financial statements
International Schools Partnership Limited
Registered number (9817502

Group consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 August 2022

(in €000's) Note 31 August 31 August
2022 2021
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Intangible assets and goodwill 13- 690,599 476,185
Property, plant and equipment -14- 860,630 392,694
Trade and other receivables -15- 9,199 -
Non-current financial assets =19- 27913 -
Deferred tax asset -11- 34,754 23,564
Total non-current assets 1,623,095 1,092,443
Current assets
Inventories 712 632
Trade and other recervables -15- 54,006 41,006
Prepayments 11,450 9.429
Current tax assets 8,064 793
Other current financial assets -19- 1.410 -
Cash and cash equivalents -16- 108,733 229219
Assets held for sale -12- 6,928 -
Total current assets 191,303 281,079
TOTAL ASSETS 1,814,398 1,373,522
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Share capital -17.1- 14 14
Share premium -17.1- 394477 464 477
Capnial contribution reserve -17.2- 79931 79,931
Other reserves -17.3- 1,000 -
Translation reserves -17.4- 49675 {25473}
Other cempenents of equity -17.5- 19.726 -
Retained earmings (285.420) 404,471
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 259403 114478
Non-controlling interests -17.6- 1,459 (3,968)
Total sharcholders' equity 260,862 110,510
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings -20- 1,226,359 1,035,100
Other non-current financial Liabilities -22- 7.244 526
Provisions -23- 890 -
Deferred tax habilities -11- 61,631 51,276
Total non-current liabilities 1,296,124 1,086,902
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables -24- 74,590 54337
Borrowings -20- 13,067 16,059
Term deposits -21- 13,197 12,028
Deferred revenue 135,646 80,636
Other current financial liabilities -22- 9.475 9,326
Current tax liabitity 7.437 3,724
Total current liabilities 257,412 176,110
TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,553,536 1,263,012
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 1,814,398 1,373,522

These financial statements were approved by the board of directors on 27 February 2023 and were signed on 11s behalf by:

N

V\}‘; [l

Darren Mee
Director
Company registered number: 09817502

The accompanying notes arc an tegral part of these conselidated financial statements



Consolidated financial staternents
International Schools Partnership Limited
Registered number 9817502

Group consolidated statement of cash flows for the period
from 1 September 2021 to 31 August 2022

Notes 2022 2021
(in €000"s) Restated*
Cash flows from operating activities
Loss for the year from continuing operations (50,032} (93.263)
Loss for the year from discontinued cperations -12- (7,401 (1,004)
Adjustments for
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment -13, 14- 70,977 50,526
[mpairment of goodwill -14- 3,685 -
Forgign exchange gan (13,390} (15,748)
Finance income 0. (100) (191)
Finance cxpense -9- 54,525 100.029
Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment -14- 1,821 1,892
Taxation -10- 8217 (2.161)
Increase in trade and other receivables -15- (16.331) (429
(Incrcase} / decrease in inventorics (80 371
Increase / {deerease) in trade and other payables. other financial =24, 22,
habilities, term deposits and deferred revenue 24~ 40,567 (525)
Utilisation of provisions -23- 390 (1,666)
Cash generated from operating activities 93,148 38,031
Tax pad (15.507) (6,984)
Net cash from operating activities 77641 31,047
Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received -9- 100 191
Acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired (172,270) (69,230)
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment -13, 14- (49.740) (31,556)
Net cash used in investing activities (221,910} (100,595}
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from the issuc of share capital and share premium 93,887 105,368
Praceeds from new bank loan -20- 46,500 216,000
Praceeds from related party borrowing -20- - 4,950
Interest paid -20- {68.972} (58.338)
Loan arrangement fees paid -20- (612} (17,125)
Repayment of borrowings -20- (30.788) {2,207
Payment of lease liabilities -20- (27.016) (20,773)
Net cash from financing activities 12,999 221,875
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents -16- (131,270) 152,327
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 September 229219 77,641
Etfect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held 10,784 (749}
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 August -16- 108,733 229,219

*The comparative information 15 restated due to a discontmued aperation, refer to note 12
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated financial statements
International Schools Partnership Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
NOTE 1 - GENERAL INFORMATION

International Schools Partnership Limited (the “Company™) is a private company incorporated. domiciled and registered
in England in the UK. The registered number is 09817502 and the registered address is 100 New Bridge Strect, London.
United Kingdom, EC4V 6JA. The ultimate controlling party is International Schools Partnership I $.ar.1 by virtue of its
sharcholding in the immediatc parent company. Permotio International Leaming S.4.r.l. The consolidated financial
statements of the Company for the vear ended 31 August 2022 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together
referred to as “International Schools Partnership Group™ or “the Group™).

The core activily of the Group is kindergarten through to twelfth grade (K-12) education and the Company is acquiring,
through its subsidiaries. schools around the world 1o create a global Group with schools having an international outlook
and which are or can become the school of choice in their local area. At the year end date the Group owned and operated
60(2021: 51} schools with around 54,244 children (2021: 46,936) from 2-18 ycars of age studying in the United Kingdom,
Spain, Ialy, Switzerland, Mexico. Malaysia, Costa Rica, the USA, Canada Qatar, the Uniled Arab Emirates, Ecuador,
Chile., Peru, Colombia, India and Victnam. The schools offer a diverse and enriching educational experience spanning
British. Malaysian, International, Mexican, US. Costa Rica. Peruvian. Chilean. Columbian and Spanish curricula,

The Group may borrow in any form except by way of public offer and proceed by private placement only to the issuc of
bonds, notes, debentures or any kind of debt or equity securities.

The Group may lend funds, including without limitation, resulting from any borrowings of the Group and/or from the
issue of any equily or debt securities of any kind. 1o its subsidiaries, affiliated companies and/or any other companies or
entities it deems fit.

The Group may further guarantec, grant security in favour of or otherwise assist the companies in which it holds a direct
or indirect participation or which form part of the same Group. The Group may further give guarantees, pledge, transfer
ot cncumber or otherwise create security over some or all its assets to guarantee its own obligations and these of any other
company, and generally for its own benefit and that of any other company or person, For the avoidance of doubt, the
Group may not carry out any regulated activities of the financial sector without having obtained the required authorisation.

The Group may further act as a gencral or limited member with unlimited or limited liability for all debts and obligations
of partnerships or similar entitics.

The Group may use any techniques and instruments to efficiently manage its investments and to protect itself against
credit risks, currency exchange exposure, interest rate risks and other risks. These consolidated financial statements state
the results and position of the Group in the year ended 31 August 2022,

Going concern
The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis which assumes that the Group and Company will
continue in operational existence for at least 12 months from the datc of these financial statements.

The Group had nct assets of €260,862,000 as at 31 August 2022 (2021: €110,510,000), generated a loss for the ycar then
ended of €57.433 000 (2021: €94,267,000) and had operating cash inflows for the year of €77,641,000 (2021]:
€31,047,000). The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis which the directors consider to be
appropriate for the following reasons.

Management maintain a 7-year and COVID-19 impacted cashflow forecast which is drawn up based on expected working
capital requirements, as well as future acquisitions and capital projects. The Group's activities in response to COVID-19
is being managed by the Board of Directors. The safety and wellbeing of our students, colleagues and families is the top
priority. The finangial risks arc being managed on a regular basis in response to the unknown significance and nature of
the distuption. Forecasting and budgets have been updated in response to the pandemic.



Consolidated financial statements
International Schools Partnership Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements {continued)

NOTE 1 - GENERAL INFORMATION (continued)

Going concern {continued)

Similar o the prior year, the adverse impact of COVID-19 largely atTected the Group's operational cashflows for the year
ended 31 August 2022, mainly due to a reduction in ancillary activities. Any reduction in lower ancillary revenues within
the year has been largely mitigated by eliminating operational expenditure linked to these services that are no longer
oceurring.

The directors have prepared cash flow forecasts for a period of at least 12 months from the date of approval of these
financial statcments which indicate that, taking account of rcasonably plausible, but severe, downsides, the Group and
Company will have sufficient funds. both through the currently available debt facilities and equity commitments. 1o meel
liabilities as they fall due for that period. The forecasts indicate that the Group and Company will have sufficicnt cash to
operate with a satisfactory level of headroom against the covenants in the debt facilities.

Consequently, the directors are confident that the Group and Company will have sufficient funds to continue to meet their
liabilities as they fall due for at least 12 months from the date ol approval of the financial statements and therefore have
prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis.

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with international accounting
standards in conformity with the Companies Act 2006 ("IFRS™).

The Company has clected to prepare its parent company financial statcments in accordance with FRS 101: these are
presented on pages 78 to 91.

2.1 Basis of preparation and consolidation

The consclidated financial statements are presented in Euro (7€7). which is the Company’s functional currency and the
Group's adopted presentational currency. The consolidated financial statements are prepared on a historical cost basis
excepl for derivative financial assets held at fair value.

The consolidated financial statements are rounded to the nearest thousand Euro (“€000°s™).

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements ot the Company and of the entitics controlled
by the Group.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the vear are included in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income (loss) from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.
Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into
line with those used by the Group.

When the Group ceases to have control, any retained interest in the entity is re-measured to its fair value at the date when
control is lost, with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value subscquently becomes the
initial carrying amount for the purposes of accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint venture or financial
asset. ln addition, any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may mecan that amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income arc reclassified to profit or loss,

18



Consolidated financial statements
[nternational Schools Partnership Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation and consolidation (continued)

The accounting policies sct out below have, unless otherwise stated, been applied consistently 1o all periods presented in
these group financial statements. All intra-Group transactions, balances, income and expenses are climinated on
consolidation.

The consolidated {inancial statements provide comparative information in respect to the previous period. Certain amounts
shown as comparative numbers in the financial statements and accompanying notes do not correspond to the 2021
consolidated financial statements and reflect reclassifications made for comparative and beticr presentation purposes only.
Such reclassification of 2021 comparative numbers does not have any impact on the net result and financial position of
the Group.

international Schools Partnership Limited has provided a guarantec for the purposes ol'exemption from audit of individual
company accounts under section 479A(2)(a) of the Companics Act 2006 for the following companies: Clarement School
(St. Leonards) Limited, International Schools Partnership Services Limited, ISP Chile Limited, 1SP Colombia Limited,
ISP Costa Rica [imited. ISP Ecuador Limited., ISP India Limited. ISP Malaysia Limited. ISP North America Limited.
ISP Peru Limited, ISP Vietnam Limited, Oaks International School Limited, PIL Brazil Holdings 2 Limited, PIL Europe
Heldings Limited, PIL Mexico loldings 1 Limited, PIl. Mexico Holdings 2 Limited, PI[. Middle East Holdings Limited,
PIL. UK Holdings 1 Limited. PIL UK Holdings 2 Limited. and Temple Cambridge Ltd.

The following are the significant accounting policies adopted by the Group:

2.2 Use of estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilitics
at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of increases and decreases in net assets
attributable to sharcholders during the reporting year. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimalcs are
recognised in the year in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that year or in the year of the revision
and future years if the revision affects both current and future years. The areas involving a higher degree ol judgement
or complexity, or arcas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are
disclosed in note 3. Managcment believes that the underlying assumptions are appropriate and that the Group’s
consolidated financial statements therefore present the financial position and results fairly.

2.3 Foreign currency transtation

(i} Functional and preseniational currency:

The items included in the financial statements of cach of the Group’s subsidiarics are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“functional currency™). The Company’s functional currency
is the Euro and the Group has adopted the Euro as its presentational currency for the consolidated financial statements.

(1) Foreign currency transactions and balances:

‘I'ransactions in foreign currencics are translated at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary
assets and liabilitics denominated in foreign currencies at the consolidated statement of financial position date are
translated at the foreign exchange rate ruling at that date. Foreign exchange differences are recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprchensive income (loss). Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a forcign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are translated at forcign exchange rates ruling at
the dates the fair value was determined.
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Consolidated financial statements
International Schools Partnership Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(¥4i) Subsidiuries

The results and financial position of the consolidated subsidiaries that have a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

(a) assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing rale at the date
of that financial position;

{b) income and expenses for each statement of comprehensive income (loss) are translated at average exchange rates
(unless this average is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the rate on the dates of the transactions);

(c) all resulting exchange differences are recognized in the consclidated statement of comprehensive income (loss)
within other comprehensive income.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of the Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation) all the exchange differcnces accumulated in
equity in respect of that operation attributable 10 the equity holders of the Group are reclassificd to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of
the forcign entity and translated at the closing rate. Exchange differences arising are recognized in other comprehensive
income,

2.4 Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has control. The Group contrels an entity when the Group is exposed
to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and can affect those returns through its power
over the entity.

The business combination is accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of the acquisition is measured at the
aggregate ofthe fair values, at the date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed. and equity instruments
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquirce. Costs attributable to the business combination are
immediately expensed in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income (loss). The acquirce’s identifiable assets
and liabilities are recognised at their fair values at the acquisition date.

Non-controlling interests (NCI) in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are identified separately from the Group’s
cquity therein. NCI consist of the amount of those interests at the date of the original business combination and the
minority’s share of changes in cquity since the date of the combination. For acquisitions from non-controlling interests,
the differcnce between any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying value of the net assets of
the subsidiary is recorded in cquity. Gains or losses on disposals of non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity.

The interest of NCI in the acquirce is initially measured at the minority s proportionate share of the acquired entity’s net
identifiable assets. proportion of the net fair valuc of the assets, liabilitics and contingent liabilitics recognised.

Where the Group increases its interest in an entity such that control is achieved. previously held identifiable assets,
liabilitics and contingent liabilities of the acquired entity are revalued to Lheir fair value at the dale of acquisition, being
the date at which the Group achieves control of the acquiree. The movement in fair value is taken to the asset revaluation
surplys.

The Group accounts for business combinations in line with IFRS 3 Business Combinations. IFRS 3 requires that all
business combinations be accounted for using the acquisition method.
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Consolidated financial statements
International Schools Partnership Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Revenue
Revenue comprises the fair value of consideration received or receivable in the ordinary course of the Group’s activities,
It comprises tuition fee income and income from ancillary sources including examinations. school trips and bus

transportation.

Sales of services which have been invoiced but not yet recognised as revenue are included on the consolidated statement
of financial position as deferred income.

Revenue recognition criteria by revenue type are as follows:

Tuition fee income

Tuition fee income is recorded as deferred income liability on the conselidated statement of financial position and released
1o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income (loss) in the tuitien fees account in the academic year to which it
relates, provided all monies have been received in full or the child is in attendance at the school. The release is done
evenly over ten months.

Enrolment fee income
Enrolment fee income is recorded immediately in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income (loss) when the

underlying performance indicator has occurred.

Other income

Revenue from ancillary sources is amortised evenly over the period covered by the payment in a similar way to tuition
fees. The unamortised balance is held on the consolidated statement of financial position and classificd as deferred
income. Other income includes amounts paid for school lunches, transport and other extra-curricular activitics.

2.6 Income tax expense

The tax expense for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case
it is recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction outside of profit or loss.

Current and deferred tax asscts and liabilities are only offsct if certain criteria arc met, such as the entity has the legal
right and the intention to scttle on a net basis.

Current income tax

Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the reporting date at the amount expected to be recovered from
or paid to taxation authorities using the tax rates and laws that have becn enacted or substantively enacted by the
consolidated statement of financial position date. Certain subsidiaries are subject to foreign taxes in respect to their net
income and capital gains in their country of operation.

Deferred income tax
Deferred income tax asscts and liabilities are recognised on all temporary differences arising between the tax bases of
assets and liabilitics and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. with the following exceptions:

e Where the tlemporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill, or of an asset, or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither the accounting
nor taxable income or loss;

+ [n respect of taxable temporary difiercnces associated with investments in subsidiaries, where the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future; and

e Decferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences. carried forward tax credits or tax losses can be utilised. Deferred
tax assets are only recognised on three years of tax losses. if appropriate.
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2.6 Income tax expense (continued)
Deferred income tax (continued)

Deferred income tax assets and liahilitics are measured on an undiscounted basis at the tax rates that are expected to apply
to the year when the related asset is realised, or the liability is settled. based on tax rate {and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted at the consolidated statement of financial position date.

2.7 Finanre income and ¢xpenses

Finance income and expenscs comprise interest income and expenses and are recognised using the effective interest rate
method, except for borrowing costs relating to qualifying assets. General and specific borrowing costs that are dircctly
attributable to the acquisition of a qualifying asset are capitalised during the period that is required to complete and prepare
the assct for its intended use or sale. Qualifying assets are asscts that necessarily 1ake a substantial period to get ready for
their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifving
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

2.8 Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations

The Group classifies non-current assets as held for sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered principally through a
sale transaction rather than through continuing use. Such non-current assets are measured at the lower of their carrying
amount and fair value lcss costs to sell. Costs to scll are the incremental costs directly attributabic to the sale or disposal.
excluding finance costs and income tax expensc. Non-current assets are not depreciated or amortised once classitied as
held for sale.

The criteria for held for sale classification is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the asset is
available for immediate sale in its present condition. Management must be committed to the plan to sell the assct and the
sale expected to be completed within one year from the date of the classilication.

Discontinued operations are excluded from the results of continuing opcrations and are presented as a single amount in
profit or loss after tax (rom discontinued operations in the statement of profit or loss. The amounts shown as comparatives
in the statement of profit or loss and accompanying notes have been restated to reflect the same presentation.

2.9 Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are all stated at cost less aceumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is recognised to write off the cost less their residual values over their useful lives. using the straight-line
method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis. Depreciation is included in cost
of providing services.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated using the following criteria:

Depreciation method Estimated years of useful economic life
Land Not depreciated
Buildings Straight-line 19-50
Fixtures. fittings and equipment Straight-line 10-20
Other asscts Straight-line 4-10
Construction in progress Not depreciated until asset is in use

An item of properly, plant and equipment is derecogniscd upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property.
plant and equipment is determined as the difference betwecn the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and
1s recognised in the profit or loss.
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2.10 Leases

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a leasc liability at the lease commencement date. The right-of-usc asset is
initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made
at or before the commencement datc, plus any initial direct costs incurred. less any lease incentives received.

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date to the end
of the lease term, unless the lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset to the Group by the end of the lease term or
the cost of the right-of~use asset reflects that the Group will exercise 1 purchase option. In that case the right-of-use asset
will be depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset, which is determined on the same basis as those of property
and equipment. ln addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for
certain remeasurements ol the lease liability.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value ol the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement
date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the Group's
incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:

- fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments;

- variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date

- amounts expecied to be payable under a residual value guarantec; and

- the exercise price under a purchase option that the Group is reasonably certain fo exercise.

- lease payments in an optional renewal period if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise an extension option, and

- penalties for early termination of a lease unless the Group is reasonably certain not {o terminate early.

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. it is remeasured when there is a
change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, there is a change in the Group's estimate of the
amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, if the Group changes its assessment of whether it will
exercise a purchase, extension or termination option or if there is a revised in-substance fixed lease payment,

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition of investment property in ‘property, plant and
equipment’ and lease liabilities in 'loans and borrowings' in the statement of financial position.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lcasc liabilities for Jease of low-value assets and short-
term leases. The Group recognises the lease payments associated with these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.

2.11 Intangible assets

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised as an intangible asset and initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
cost of the business combination over the Group's interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets. liabilities and
contingent liabilitics recognised. Goodwill is not amortised, but it is tested for impairment annually. or more frequently
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired and is carried ai cost less accumulated impairment
losses. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for impairment testing. The allocation is made to those cash-generating

units or Groups of cash-generating units that arc expected to benefit from the business combination in which the goodwill
arose.
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2.11 Intangible assets (continued)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Intangibles with
finite useful lives are carricd at cost and are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Depreciation method Estimated years of useful
economic life

Acquired intangible assets Straight-line 10
Software Straight-line 5

Acquired intangible assets primarily comprise student registry intangibles recognised on acquisition. An assessment has
also been made to identify any brand assets on acquisition, but nothing has been recognised to datc.

2.12 Ilmpairment
The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses (ECI.s) on financial assets measured at amortised cost,

and contract asscts.

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECL. except for other debt securities and bank
balances for which credit risk (i.e. the risk of default occurring over the expected life of the financial instrument) has not
increased significantly since initial recognition, which are measured as 12-month ECL.

Loss allewances for trade receivables and contract assets are always measured at an amount cqual to lifetime ECL

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition and
when estimating ECL, the Group considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without
undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis. based on the Group’s
historical experience and informed credit assessment and including forward-looking information.

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when:
- the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full after investigation.

Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial instrument,

12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default events that are possible within the 12 months after the
reporting date (or a shorter period if the expected life of the instrument is less than 12 menths),

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which the Group is
exposcd to credit risk.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the present value of all cash
shortfalls (i.c. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to reccive). ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the {inancial asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carricd at amortised cost are credit-impaired. A
financial asset is *credit-impaited” when onc or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of the financial asset have occurred.

The gross carrying amount of a financial assct is written ofT (either partially or in full) to the extent that there is no realistic
prospect of recovery.
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2.13 Fair value estimates
The Group measures financial instruments such as derivatives at fair value at each balance sheet date. The Group has
established a control framework with respect of the measurement of the fair valucs.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participanis at the measurement date in the principal or, in its absence, the most advantageous markcet to which
the Group has access at that date. The fair value of a liability reflects its non-performance risk.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined by using valuation techniques.
The Group uses a variety of methods, such as recent price transaction. estimated discounted cash flows, EBITDA or
enterprise value multiples and makes assumptions that are based on market conditions existing at the date of financial
position, The nominal value less any estimated credit adjustments for financial assets and liabilities with a maturity of
less than one year are assumed to approximate their tair values.

For instruments for which there is no active market. the Group may use internally developed models, which are usually
bascd on valuation methods and techniques generally recognised as standard within the industry. Valuation models are
used primarily to value unlisted equity, debt securities and other debt instruments for which markets were or have been
inactive during the financial year, Some of the inputs to these models may not be market observable and are therefore
estimated based on assumptions,

The output of a model is always an estimate or approximation of a value that cannet be determined with certainty, and
valuation techniques employed may not fully reflect all factors relevant to the positions the Group holds. Valuations are
therefore adjusted, wherc appropriate, te allow for additional factors including model risk, liquidity risk and counterparty
risk.

The carrying value of trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, trade and other payables and term deposits
are assumed to approximate their fair values, due to their respective short-term nature.

The Group recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of ¢ach reporting period during which
the change has occurred.

When the fair values of financial assets and [inancial liabilities recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position
cannot be derived from active markets, their fair value is determined using a variety of valuation techniques that include
the use of valuation models.

The inputs to these models are taken from observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, estimation
is required in establishing fair values. The estimates include considerations of the discounted cash flow and sensitivity
analysis.

Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect the reported fair value of financial instruments in the consolidated
statement of financial position and the level where the instruments are disclosed in the fair value hierarchy. The models
are tested for validity by calibrating to prices from any observable current market transactions in the same instrument
when available. To assess the significance of a particular input to the entire measurement, the Greup performs sensitivity
analysis or stress testing techniques.

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by valuation

technique:

. Level | fair valuc measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities.

. Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within Level |
that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

. Level 3 fair value measurements are thosc derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or

liability that ar¢ not based on observable markct data (unobservable inputs).
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2.14 Financial assets

2.14.1 Classification
On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at amortised cost or fair value through profit or loss

(FVYTPL).

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Group changes its business model
for managing financial assets in which casc all affected financial asscts are reclassified on the first day of the first
reporting period following the change in the business model.

A financial asset is mcasured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions:
- it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and
- ils contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the pringipal amount outstanding,.

All financial assets not classified as mcasured at amortised cost as described above are measured at FVTPL. This includes
all derivative financial assets. On initial recognition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise
meets the requirements 1o be measured at amortised cost as at FVTPL if doing so climinates or significantly reduces an
accounting mismatch that would otherwisc arise.

Investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less impairment. accounted for using the equity method.

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and
form an integral part of the Group's cash management are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents lor the
purpose only of the cash flow statement.

2.14.2 Subsequent measurement

Financial assets at amortised cost are subscquently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The
amortised cost is reduced by impairment losses. lnterest income, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are
recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.

2.15 Financial liahilities and equity

2.15.1 Classificatipn

Financial instruments issued by the Group are treated as equity only to the extent that they meet the following two
conditions:

(a) they include no contractual obligations upen the company to deliver cash or other financial assets or to exchange
financial asscts or financial liabilitics with another party under conditions that are petentially unfavourable to
the company: and

(b) where the instrument will or may be settled in the company’s own equity instruments, it is ¢ither a non-derivative
that includes no obligation to deliver a variable number of the company’s own equily instruments or is a
derivative that will be settled by the company s exchanging a fixed amount of cash or other financial assets for

a fixed number of its own equity instruments.

To the extent that this definition is not met, the proceeds of issuc are classified as a financial liability.

2.15.2 Subsequent measurement

Financial liabilitics are classified as measured at amortised cost or FVTPL. A financial liability is classitied as at FVTPL
if'it is classified as held-for-trading. it is a derivative or it is designated as such on initial recognition. Iinancial liabilities
at FVTPL. are measured at fair value and net gains and losses, including any interest expense, are recognised in profit or
loss. Other tinancial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest
expense and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in protit or loss. Any gain or loss en derecognition is also
recognised in profit or loss.
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2.16 Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as intcrest rates caps, to hedge its interest rate risks. Such derivative
financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which the derivative contract is entered into and
are subsequently measured at fair value.

For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as:

. Cash flow hedges when hedging the exposure to variability in cash flows is either attributable to a particular risk
associated with a recognised asset or lability or a highly probably [orecast transaction,
. Fair value hedges when hedging the exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognised asset or liability.

At the inception of a hedge relationship. the Group formally designates and documents the hedge relationship to which it
wishes to apply hedge accounting and the risk management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge.

The documentation includes identification of the hedging instrument, the hedged item, the nature of the risk being hedged
and how the Group will assess whether the hedging relationship meets the hedge cffectiveness requirements. A hedging
rclationship qualifies for hedge accounting if it meets all of the following effectiveness requircments:

. there is an economic relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument.
. the effect of credit risk does not dominate the value changes that result from the economic relationship.
. the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the samc as that resulting from the quantity of the hedged item thal

the group actually hedges and the quantity of the hedging instrument that the Group actually uscs to hedge that
quantity of hedged item.

Hedges that meet all the qualifyving criteria for hedge accounting are accounted for as fotlows:

Cash flow hedges

The effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised in other comprehensive income in the
cash flow hedge reserve, while any ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the statement of profit or loss. The
cash flow hedge reserve is adjusted to the lower of the cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument and the
cumulative change in far value of the hedged itcm.

The Group designates only the intrinsic value of the intercst rate caps as a hedging instrument. The time value element is
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in a separatc component of equity under cost of hedging
reserye,

The amounts accumulated in other comprehensive income are accounted for, depending on the nature of the underlying
hedged transaction. H the hedged transaction subscquently results in the recognition of a non-financial item, the amount
accumulated in equity is removed from the separate component of equity and included in the initial cost or other carrying
amount of the hedged asset or liability. This is not a reclassification adjustment and will not be recognised in other
comprehensive income for the period.

For any other cash flow hedges, the amount accumulated in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss
as a reclassification adjustment in the same period or periods during which the hedged cash flows affect profit or loss.

If cash flow hedge accounting is discontinued, the amount that has been accumulated in other comprehensive income
must remain in accumulated other comptehensive income if the hedged future cash flows are still expecied to occur.
Otherwise. the amount will be immediately reclassified to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment. Afiler
discontinuation, once the hedged cash flow cccurs, any amount remaining in accumulated other comprehensive income
must be accounted for depending on the nature of the underlying transaction as described above.,

2.17 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value. net of direct transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subscquently
carried at amortised cost: any difference between the proceeds {net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is
recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income {loss) over the period of the borrowings using the
effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is
prebable that some or all the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fec is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To
the extent there is no evidence that it is probable that some or all the facility will be drawn down. the fec is capitalised as
a pre-payment for liquidity services and amortised over the period of the facility to which it retates.

27



Consolidated financial statements
International Schools Partnership Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.17 Borrowings (continued)
When borrowings are including floor or cap rates which are defined as closely related embedded derivatives, they are not

scparated from the host contract.

Borrowings are removed from the consolidated statement of financial position when the obligation specilied in the
contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The difTerence between the carrying amount of a financial liability that has
been extinguished or transferred to another party and the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or
liabilities assumed. is recognised in profit or loss as other income or finance costs. Borrowings are classified as current
liabilittes unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months atter the
reporting period.

2.18 Current and non-current classification
Current assets are assets expected to be realised or ¢onsumed in the normal course of the Group's operating cycle
(normally within one year). All other assets are classified as non-current assels.

Current liabilitics are liabilities expected to be settled by use of cash generated in the normal course of the Group's
operaling ¢yele (normally within one year) or liabilities due within one year from the reporting date. All other liabilities
are classified as non-current liabilities,

2.19 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash cquivalents comprise cash balances and call depesits. Bank overdrafts that are repavable on demand and
form an integral part of the Group's cash management are included as a component of ¢cash and cash equivalents for the
purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows.

2.20 Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lowcer of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business.

2.21 Trade receivables

Trade recejvables are measured at initial recognition at fair value and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest rate method, less provision for impairment. Yrade receivables that are known to be uncollectible are
written off by reducing the carrying amount directly.

2.22 Contingent consideration

Contingent consideration arises from a business combination when the Group has an obligation to transfer additional
assets to the former owners of an acquiree if specified future events occur or conditions are met. The liability is recognised
at fair value at the acquisition date as part of the acquisition accounting, It is subsequently remeasured to fair value at
each reporting date, with the changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

2.23 Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a post-cmployment benefit plan under which the Group pays fixed contributions into a
separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions to
defined contribution pension plans arc recognised as an expense in the income statement in the periods during which
services are rendered by employees.

2.24 Share-based payment transactions

Share based payment arrangements in which the Group receives goods or services as consideration for its own cquity
instruments are accounted for as equity settled share-based payment transactions, regardless of how the equily instruments
are obtained by the Group.

Equity scttled share-based payments to employees are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments at the grant
date using an appropriate valuation model. The fair value excludes the effect of non-market based vesting conditions.
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2.24 Share-based payment transactions (continued)

The fair value determined at the grant date of the cquity settled share-based payments is recognised in employee benetits
expense over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest. At each
reporting date, the Group revises ils estimate of the number of equily instruments expected to vest as a result of the effect
of non-market based vesting conditions, The impact of the revision of the original estimates. il any. is recognised in the
statement of profit and loss, with the corresponding adjustment in equity reserves.

2.25 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when there is a present obligation {legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable
that the Group will be required to settle the obligation. and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best cstimate of the consideration required to setile the present obligation at
the end of the reperting period. taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation.

2.26 Long-term incentive plan

Certain employees of the Group are entitled to receive remuneration in the form of awards based on performance. The
awards are issued annually and will vest at the time of the Group's next equily refinancing, which is deemcd 1o be in 3
years,

A liability is recognised for the fair value of the future settlement of awards outstanding at cach reporting date. The awards
outstanding are measured initially, and at each reporting date up to and including the vesting date, at fair value. The initial
fair value of any awards granfed are recognised in staff costs, with any changes in fair value at each reporting date up to
and including the vesting date. recognised in finance costs. The fair value is determined using an appropriate valuation
mode.

2.27 Adoption of new and revised IFRS

The Group has applied all IFRS that are currently applicable have been applied in the preparation of these consolidated
financial statements. New standards, amendments and interpretations are adopted, if applicable to the Group, when they
bccome effective.

The directors consider that there is no significant financial impact on the Group financial statements of the following new
standards, amendments and interpretations that are in issue and mandatory for the financial year ending 31 August 2022:

» COVID-19-Related Rent Coneessions bevond 30 June 2021 (Amendment to [FRS 16)

The following Adopted IFRSs have been issued but have not been applied by the Group in these financial statements.
Their adoption is not expected to have a material effect on the financial statements unless otherwise indicated.

* Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract (Amendments to IAS 37)

* Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020

« Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use (Amendments to 1AS 16}

* Reference lo Conceptual Framework (Amendments to [FRS 3)

* IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

* Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendments to [IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2)
* Definition of Accounting Estimates (Amendments to 1AS 8)

* Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single I'ransaction (Amendments to IAS 12)
* Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current {Amendments to IAS 1)

* Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (Amendments to 1AS 1)

* Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback (Amendments to [FRS 16)

There are no other standards, amendments or interpretations that are in issuc but not yet effective that are expected to
have a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTE 3 — USE OF JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The estimates and judgments made by management are re-examined continuously and arc based on historical data and
expectations about future events which are considered reasonable in light of eurrent circumstances.

3.1 Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, which are deseribed in note 2, management has made the
following judgements that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
slatements.

Presentution currency

The Group has elected to use the Furo as the presentation currency for these financial statements. The vast majority of the
Group's transactions arc denominated in Eure. The Euro is consequently an appropriate choice for presentation currency
in these financial statements. As more subsidiaries are acquired it is likely that these will transact business in other
currencies, At this time, the Group will continue to use the Euro as its presentation currency but will provide further
information to explain the expected economic effects of a rate change on its cash flows and equity in cases where, in the
opinion of management, there is a material risk of exchange rate volatitity.

Control assessment & de facto control

A Group centrols an entity when it has power over the entity: is exposed. or has rights, fo variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. Power can arise
from voting rights the Group holds in the investee or contractual arrangements. The power to direct the relevant activities
of the investee do not need to be exercised. The Group invests in its subsidiaries by acquiring the majority of the voting
rights (share capital) of the subsidiarics (see note 23).

Although the Group owns less than half of the shares of Al Nibras International Private Schoel LLC, Aspen Hcights
British School LLC, Aspen Heights Educational Facilities Management Sole Proprietorship LLC, PIL (Dubai) SPC 1 Ltd,
Promouvoir Management Consultancy LLC, Reach British School LLC. The Agquila School Owned by Shaikh
Mohammed Maktoum Juma Al Maktoum One Person Company LLC, The Hamilton International School LLC, llmu
Bijak Bestari Sdn. Bhd., Tenby Education Sdn. Bhd.. and Tenby Labuan Foundation, management has determined that
the Group controls these entities. This is by virtue of agreement with the above listed companies™ other sharcholders
whereby the Group exercises management control over the entities and is entitled to 100% of the profit or loss of the
entities.

3.2 Assumptions and ¢stimation uncertainties

The Group makes estimates and assumptions about the development of future events, Thosc estimates and assumptions
which entail a significant risk of substantive adjustments in the carrying value of assets and liabilities over the next 12
months pertain to the following:

Acquisition accounting

The group initially recognises the assets and liabilitics acquired in a business combination at their fair value. Intangible
asscts recognised for student registries are established using a level 3 fair value measurement technique. See notes 13
and 30 for further disclosures.

Fair value measurement of financial instruments

When the fair values of financial assels and liabilities recorded in the statement of financial position cannot be measured
based on quoted prices in active markets. the fair value is measured using valuation techniques including the discounted
cash flow (DCF) model. The inputs to these models are taken from observable markets where possible, but where this is
not feasible, a degree of judgement is required in establishing fair values. Judgements include consideration of inputs
such as liguidity risk. credit risk and volatility. Changes in assumptions relating to these factors could aftect the reported
fair value of tinancia! instruments, See note 18 for funther disclosurcs.

Taxes

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
availabie against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement is required to determine the
amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and the level of future taxable profits,
together with future tax planning strategics. See note 11 for further disclosures.
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NOTE 3 — USE OF JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)

3.2 Assumptions and estimation uncertainties (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assefs

The Group has recognised intangible assets in relation to goodwill and the valuation of student registry arising on the
acquisition of subsidiaries. The asscts were tested for impairment by reviewing the budgeted EBITDA of the underlying
operations and the expected exit multiple. The key assumptions used in the estimation of the recoverable amount are
variables that impact the budgeted normalised EBITDA for the next 12 months and the multiple used. Where the
recoverable ameunt of the cash gencrating unit was expected to be higher than the carrying amount of the assets, no
impairment was required. Where impairment was required, this expense was recognised in other costs in the statement of
comprehensive income (loss),

Cash generating units (CGUs)

The Group has identified multiple cash generating units (CGUs). with each school considered to be a CGU. Goodwill and
intangible assets arc allocated to the CGUs, and impairment is assessed by management on the same basis. The level at
which impairment is tested reflects the lowest kevel at which goodwill and intangible assets are monitored for internal
reporting purposes. The Group’s chief executive officer reviews the internal management reports of each school monthly.

Cash generating unit Location
Al Nibras International Private School UAE

Asia Pacilic School Malaysia
Baton Rouge International School USA
Bellevue Children’s Academy USA
British Education Management (St George) Spain
Claremont School UK
Colegios Laude Spain
Colegios Pedro de Valdivia Chile
Instituto Thomas Jefferson Group Mexico
Kehoe-France School USA
Liceo Panamericano & Colegio L.a Moderna Ecuador
La Colina Colombia
Montessori Academy of Broward USA

Park House English School Qatar
Reach British School Abu Dhabi
St Jude School Costa Rica
St George's College Peru
Tenby Group Malaysia
Tomas Alva Edison School Mexico
Lynn Rose School Canada
Rowntree Montessori School Canada
British Scheol of Geneva Switzerland
Mile Bilingual School ltaly
British Royal School Chile
Riviera Preparatory and Day Schools USA
Straits International Education Group Malaysia
Ecole Mosaic Switzerland
Colegio Terranova Ecuador
St. Mary’s School India

Star International School UAE
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NOTE 4 — NON-UNDERLYING ITEMS

Year ended 31 Year ended

‘ 31 August
August 2022 2021

{in €600's)
Acquisitions and business explorations 9,107 5,963
Refinancing 1,660 16,345
Restructuring costs 8,379 5,280
19,146 27,588

Non-underlying items are income or expenditure which, for the Board of Directors and financial statement reporting
purposes, are disclosed scparately because in management's judgement. due to their nature. size or incidence, they distort
an understanding of the Group’s financial performance and comparability between periods. The items of expenditure
which management designate as being non-underlying include acquisition and business exploration costs, refinancing
costs, business restructuring costs and impairment of assets.

Acquisition and business exploration ¢osts are expenses (incurred in the statement of comprehensive income / (loss}) to
seek out and acquire new schools or expansion opportunities including future business development into new countries
and regions. These include any legal and due diligence fees relating to potential or actual acquisitions as well as losses
incurred prior to the opening of a new school. Although costs rclating to projects can span multiple financial years, key
components of expenditure for specific projects are non-recurring. for example {inancial due diligence. legal and market
surveys. These costs have no relation to the operational results of existing schools and are split out to enable the reader
of the financial statements to gain greater clarity of the underlying business performance.

Business restructuring costs mainly relate to employment cessation and associated legal costs. Costs of this nature are
incurred annually. but relate to different projects and are, therefore, considered non-underlying. Refinancing costs
primarily consist of professional and lcgal fees relating to the appointment of a new minority shareholder during the year
ended 31 August 2021, Costs of this nature should be considered as non-underlying as they are not part of the usual
operations.

NOTE 5 - FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's activities expose it to a variely of (inancial risks: market risk (including foreign currency and interest rate
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

Risk management is carried out by the Board of Directors. The Group’s objective when managing capital is to safeguard
its ability to continue as a going concern to provide returns to the shareholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure
to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure. the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid. return capital,
issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. The capital, as defined and managed by the Group. consists of the amounts
of equity as presented in the consolidated statement of financial position.

fa) Market Risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as forcign exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices will
aflect the Graup's income or the valuc of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management
is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return.
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NOTE 5 - FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b} Foreign currency risk
Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash Hows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because

of changes in foreign exchanges rates. The Group is mainly exposed to currency risk on purchases (accounting, audit and
administrative services) that arc denominated in a currency other than the functional currency. A significant weakening
of a currency in a region could adyersely impact the +alue of future dividends from investments in that region.

As at 31 August 2022 the currency risk is shown in the table beiow:

Net assets Profit or loss
Effect in €000's Strengthening  Weakening Strengthening Weakening
AED (10% movement against EUR) (8.820) 8.820 132 (132)
CAD (10% movement against EUR) 1,171 (1,171} (76) 76
CHF (10% movement against EUR) (694) 694 143 (143
CLP (10% movement against EUR) 1.077 (1.077) 557 (557)
COP (10% movement against EUR) 1,297 (1,297) 90 (90)
CRC {10% movement against LUR) 566 {566) 52 (52}
GBP (10% movement against EUR) (4.271) 4,271 (2,632} 2.632
INR (10% movement against EUR) 1,927 (1.927) R0 (80}
MXN (10% movement against EUR) 6,716 (6,716) {1,227} 1,227
MYR (10% movement against EUR) 3,195 (3,195) (457) 457
PEN (10% movement against EUR) 863 (863) 433 (433)
QAR (10% movement against EUR) (53) 53 317 (317)
USD (10% movement against EUR) (1.131) 1.131 1,072 (1.072)
VND (10% movement against EUR) 35 (35) (111) 111

As at 31 August 2021 the currency risk is shown in the table below:

Net asscts Profit or loss
Effect in €000°s Strengthening Weakening Strengthening Weakening
AED (10% movement against EUR) (5,391) 5,391 (598) 598
CAD (10% movement against EUR) 1,167 (1,167) 31 &0
CHF (10% movement against EUR) (502) 502 (70) 70
CLP (10% movement against ELJR) 1.960 (1,960) (86) 86
COP (10% movement against EUR) 1,189 (1,189) 56 (56)
CRC (10% movement against EUR) 438 (438) 128 (128)
GBP (10% movement against EUR) (1.747) 1.747 1.273 (1.273)
MXN (10% movement against EUR) 1,668 (1,068) 79 (79)
MYR (10% movement against EUR) 11.004 {11,004) 171 (171}
PEN (10% movement against EUR) 522 {(522) 221 (221)
QAR (10% movement against EUR) (244) 244 (31) 31
USD (10% movement against EUR) 8,362 (8,362} (777 777

(¢} Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate becausc of
changes in market interest rates. The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to
the Group's bank loans. noted in note 20,

The Group’s risk management strategy to protect the cash flows and minimise the adverse impact of increases in variable
market intercst rates is to enter into offsetting interest ratc cap or swap contracts to fix the interest on its borrowings from
third parties. The Group may formally designate one or more of these derivative financial instruments as a hedging
relationship, subject 1o hedge accounting, if it meets all the qualifying effectiveness requirements.
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NOTE 5 - FENANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(c) Interest rate risk (continued)
The following table presents impact on profits as if interest rates on variable borrowings at 31 August 2022 had been 1%
lower or 1% higher:

(in €000's) Impact on profit

Decrease in rate by 1% I“cmasci (l,/: rate by
Borrowings 4.429 (5.19%
Total impact on consolidated statement of comprehensive
income {[oss) 4,429 (5,199)

The following table presents impact on profits as il interest rates on loans and borrowings at 31 August 2021 had been
1% higher/lower:

{(in €006°s) Impact on prefit

Decrease in rate by 1% lncrcasel;/ttl) rate by
Borrowings 5.184 (8,448)
Total impact on consolidated statement of comprehensive
income (loss}) 5,184 (8,448)

{d) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that any counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or custemer contract,
leading to a financial loss. The Group’s accounting policics for financial assets is consistent with the requirement of 1IFRS
9. The schools within the Group recognise provisions and impairments based on the expected credit losses over the next
12 months, The assessments are based primarily on the age of the asscts to assess the likelihood of recovery.

To minimise the credit risk the schools within the Group invoeice customers in advance and has policies in place covering
subsequent cash collection, which include regular review of outstanding debt. Individual school policy is either to invoice
at the beginning of cach term or the beginning of cach month. Due to this it is deemed that the credit risk within the Group
is low. There were no significant impairments of trade and other receivables during the current or prior year.

The carrying amount of financial assets and cash and cash equivalents represents the maximum credit exposure.

‘The maximum exposure to credit risk at 31 August 2022 and 2021 was:

31 August 31 August
(in €000's) 2022 2021
Trade and other receivables 63,205 41,006
Cash and cash equivalents 108,733 229,219
Taotal 171,938 270,225
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NOTE 5 - FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

{d) Credit risk (cantinued)
Trade and other receivables

The following table is an analysis of the Group’s trade and other receivables allowance provision by geographical market
in 2022 and 2021 respectively:

(in €000's Europe Americas Middle Asia Other Total

) p East
Year ended 31 August 2022 517 2.869 264 617 4,0G0 8.267
Year ended 31 August 2021 77 1,457 - 478 2,000 4,652

There are no significant other receivables past duc at the current or prior year end. No further disclosure is required on
the location of the receivables or the nature of the receivables, as all the receivables are of the same nature and the directors
do not believe that the location of the receivables has a significant impact on the credit risk. due to the similar nature of
the controls apparent at the schools to mitigate the risk.

The movernent in the allowance provision in respect of trade and other receivables during the year was as follows:

(in €000) 2022 2021
At | September 4.652 4,878
Acquisition of subsidiaries 954 188
Impairment loss recognised 2,466 30
Amounts written off (220) (601)
Exchange differences 415 (43)
At 31 August 8,267 4,652

The allowance provision lor trade and other receivables is used to record impairment losses unless the Group is satisfied
that no recovery of the amount owing is possible; at that point the amounts considered irrecoverable are written off' against
the trade receivable dircctly.

Cash and cash equivalents

Credit risk with respect to balances at bank is limited because the counter partics are reputable banks.

{e) Liguidipy risk

The Group manages liguidity risk by maintaining adequate cash balances and banking facilitics. loans granted by the
shareholders. continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of [inancial
assets and liabilities. The Group also performs regular cash forecasting at the subsidiary level along with the funding

required for central and local cost centres. Funding for new transactions, including due diligence and other pre-transaction
costs. is assesscd and drawn dewn on a case by case basis.

The Group has borrowings with third parties that maturc in 2028, while its current receivables are callable on demand.
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NOTE 5 - FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(e) Liquidity risk (continued)

The following are the contractual maturities of financial assets and Habilities, including future undiscounted interest
payments as per 31 August 2022:

Between 3

(in €000°s) Less than months and 1 Between l- Between 2 More than 5
3 months and 2 years and 5 years years
year
Assets
Trade and other receivables 63,205 - - - -
Cash and cash equivalents 108.733 - - - -
Derivatives - 1.410 - 27913 -
Total assets 171,938 1,410 - 27,913 -
L l.ess than Between 3 Between 1 Between 2 More than 5
({in €000’s) months and 1
3 months and 2 years and 5 years years
year
Liabilities
BOrfowings 6,476 3,162 54,248 8,077 792,995
Lease liabilities 85 10,335 12,209 41,039 334,477
Deferred consideration 8,029 1,446 1,945 2,990 2,309
Trade and other payables 74.590 - - - -
Total liabilities 89,180 14,943 68,402 52,106 1,129,781

The following are the contraclual maturities of financial assets and liabilities, including future undiscounted interest
payments as per 31 August 2021:

Between 3
(in €000’s) Less than months and 1 Between 1 Between 2 More than
3 months and 2 years and 5 years S years
year
Assets
Trade and other receivables 41,006 - - - -
Cash and cash equivalents 229219 - - - -
Total assets 270,225 - - - -
Between 3
oL Less than 3 Between 1 Between 2 and More than 5
(in €000°s) months and )
months and 2 years 5 years years
1 year
Liabilities
Borrowings 5.576 1.864 2.815 53,519 706,638
Lease liabilitics 2,165 6,454 8,735 28,056 235,338
Deferred consideration 6,420 2,906 526 - -
I'rade and other payables 54,337 - - - -
Total liabilities 68.498 11.224 12,076 81,375 941,976
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NOTE § - FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(f} Business Risk

The Group's Board of Directors assess performance and business risk using regular reperting by each subsidiary and
investment which includes monitoring against agreed budgets and a set of KPis. The KPIls comprise financial and non-
financial measures the latter including various ratios relating to student enrolments and staffing as well as information on
academic results. Reporting also includes information on school improvement plans, marketing plans, compliance
monitoring and health and safety.

NOTE 6 — REVENUE

The following table is an analysis of the Group’s revenue by geographical market in FY22 and FY21 respectively:

Year ended . . . . o

’ ! - As
31 August 2022 Europe Americas Middie East sia Total
Revenue (in €000's) 109,348 171,246 77,552 45,993 404,139
Year ended - - } . B
31 August 2021 Europe Americas Middle East Asia Fotal
Revenue (in €000's) 83,887 123.126% 46,925 35,073 294,011

*The comparative information is restated due to a discontinued operation, refer to note 12.

The split of revenue in the year between tuition income and other income was as follows:

Year ended Ycar ended
{in €000"s) 31 August 2022 31 Aungust 2021
Tuition income 357.934 262,742
Other Income 46,205 31.269
Total 404,139 294,011
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NOTE 7- BREAKDOWN OF COSTS OF SALES AND OTHER COSTS

Loss for the year has been arrived at after charging:

Year ended
31 August 2021
Restated™

46,960
107,402
14.986
35.280
4,592
811
59.167
28.283

P Year ended
(in €000%s) 31 August 2022
Costs of providing services and other costs
Stalf costs (admin) 75.044
Stafl costs (teaching} 131,576
Amoertisation {note 13) 26,092
Depreciation (note 14) 44 886
Legal and professional fecs 4,911
Audit and assurance fees (note 8) 1.018
(ieneral expenses 92,168
Other costs 14.934

391.529

297 481

*The comparative information is restatcd due to a discontinued operation. refer to note 12,

Other costs are mainly related to costs associated with acquiring subsidiaries and costs required to bring the acquired

subsidiaries to the standard expected in the year.

General expenses include costs associated with short term and low value leases, as disclosed in note 20.

The staffing costs included the following charges:

Year ended

Year ended
31 August 2621

136,733
17,061
568

(in €000°s) 31 August 2022

Staff costs

Wages and salaries 184,940

Social security costs 21.908

Other pension costs 672
207,520

154.362

The average number of total staff in the vear was 7,439 (2021: 6.362) split out by admin staflT of 2.481 (2021: 2.036) and

teaching staff 4,958 (2021: 4.326).

NOTE 8 — AUDIT AND PROFESSIONAL FEES FOR SERVICES PROVIDED BY KPMG

Audit and other professional fees for services provided by KPMG member firms of the network are noted in the table

Year ended
31 August 2621

345
365
39

62

below:

o Year ended

(in €000°s) 31 August 2022
Audit fees - Group audit 570
Audit fees - Subsidiaries 434
Audit related assurance services 12
l'ax services 2
Other assurance services -
1,018

811
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NOTE 9 — FINANCE COSTS — NET

Year ended Year ended
31 August 2022 31 August 2021
(in €000's)
Bank interest income 100 161
Finanee income 100 191
Foreign exchange gain - net 37.932 7.851
(iain on derivative tnstruments at fair value
through profit or loss 3,253 -
Bank interest expensc and charges (9.497) (2.469)
Interest expense - Bank loans (50,881) (39.745)
Interest expense - Lease liabtlitics (23.552) (18.462)
Interest expense - Listed bond - (3.461)
Interest expense - Interecompany loans - (24.759)
Interest expense - Other {268) 361)
Other finance costs (11,512) {10,739)
Finance costs (54,525) {92,145)
Net finance costs (54,425) (91,954)

The net gain on derivative instruments at fair value through profit or loss relates to intercst rate caps and interest raie
swaps that did not qualify for hedge accounting.
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NOTE 10 — INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Year ended Year ended
31 August 2022 31 August 2021
(in €000's)
Consolidated profit or loss
Income tax cxpense in respect of the current period (15,959) (12.875)
Income tax {expense) / income in respect of the prior period {1.972) 2,260
Deferred tax credit in respect of the current period 8.740 10,534
Deferred tax credit in respect of the prior period 974 2.242
Total tax (charge) / credit reported in the statement of
profit or loss (8,217) 2,161
Consolidated other comprehensive income
Net gain on cash flow hedges (4.990) -
Net change in costs of hedging 363 -
Deferred tax charged to other comprehensive income (4,627) -
Reconciliation of effective tax rate
Loss for the year [rom continuing operations 41815 95,424
Loss before tax from a discontinued operation 7.401 1,004
L.oss before tax 49,216 96,428
l'ax calculated at domestic tax rate of 19%* 9.351 18.321
Elzfeé:';)lf:iof;‘z:z?ctstax rates on profits / losses in countries in which (6.560) (1,085)
Tax effect of:
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes (7.575) (10.163)
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses 6.343 319
Tax losses for which no deferred tax asset was recognised** - (4,649)
Prior period differences (999) 4,502
Other ditferences (8,777) (5,084)
Tax (charge) / eredit (8,217) 2,161
Income tax (charge) / credit reported in the statement of profit or loss (8,217) 2,161

Income tax attributablc to a discontinued operation - -

* Applicable tax rate in United Kingdom.

** No deferred tax asset has been recognised in some CGU’s due to uncertainty in recoverability of this asset. The Group's
policy is to recognise a deferred tax asset for tax losses only to the extent that it is probable that fulure profits will be
available against which the asset can be utilised. A deferred tax asset of €20.9 million is unrecognised at the year end
(2021: €27 1 million).

An increase in the UK corporation rate from 19% 10 25% (effective 1 April 2023} was substantively enacted on 24 May
2021. This will increase the Company's future current tax charge accordingly. The UK deferred tax assets and liabilities
at 31 August 2022 have been calculated based on these rates, reflecting the expected timing of reversal ol the related
timing differcnces (2021: 25%).
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NOTE 11 - DEFERRED TAXES

. , 31 August 31 August
(in €000's) 23022 2g02 h
Deferred tax Hability (61,631) (51,276)
Deferred tax asset 34.754 23,564
Total (26.877) (27.712)
Current - -
Non-current (26.877) (27,712)
Acquired in
husiness
combinations
and fair value
Recognised in uplifts on
1  Recognised in other acquired k]
September statement of comprehen- tangible Exchange August
2021 profit or loss sive income assets differences 2022
€000°s €000°s €000°s €00’ €000's €000’s
Intangiblc assets (48,774) 1,692 (2,139 (1,714} (50,935}
Cash flow hedges - - (4,627) - - (4,627)
Tax losses carried
forward 7170 5.900 - - - 13,070
Finance leases 4990 1,684 - - - 6,674
Other 8,902 438 - - (399) 8.941
(27.712) 9,714 (4,627) (2,139) 2,113)  (26,877)

The Group has a deferred tax liability of €50.9 million (2021: €48.7 million) arising from student registries and fair value
uplifts on acquired fixed assets and €4.6 million (2021: €nil) arising from cash flow hedges. The Group has recognised
deferred income tax assets of €13.1 million (2021: €7.2 million) in respect of losses, €6.7 millien (2021: €5.0 million} in
respect to linance lcases and €8.9 million (2021: €8.9 million) in respect of other temporary timing diflferences.

The deferred tax has been calculated using the prevailing tax rate in the jurisdictions where the underlying transaction has
occurred and the rate at which the asset or liability is expected to settle.
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NOTE 12 - DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS AND ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

In April 2022, the Group announced the closure of Baton Rouge International School and operations ccased in May 2022,
The disposal was effected in order to gencrate cash flows for the expansions of the Group™s other businesses.

The results of the discontinued operations, which have been included in the profit for the year, were as follows:

Year ended Year ended

31 August 2022 31 August 2021
(in €000's)
Revenue 3,040 2.959
Expenscs (5.743) (3.931)
Operating loss (2,703) (972
Finance costs 23 (32)
Impairment foss recognised on the remeasurement to fair
value less costs to sell {4,675) -
Loss belore tax from discontinued operations (7.401) {1.004)
Tax expense:
Related to pre-tax loss from ordinary activities for the - .
period
Related to impairment losses - ~
Loss for the vear from discontinued operations, net of
tax __{7,401) (1,004)

As disclosed in note 13, an impairment loss of €3,685.000 was rccognised, being the difference between the carrying
valye of the associated goodwill and its recoverable amount.

As at 31 August 2022, the property from which Baton Rouge International Scheol operated has been listed for sale and
is expected to be sold within 12 months. The carrying value was reduced to the fair value less costs to sell of €6,928,000
and has been classilied as a non-current asset held for sale in the statement of firancial position. The write down resulted
in an impairment loss of €990,000, which was recognised in discontinued operations in the statement of profit or loss.
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NOTE 13- INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL

Acquired
intangible

Goodwill assets Software Total
Cost €000's €000’ €000’s €000's
At | September 2020 296.462 137.325 - 433,787
Acquisition of subsidiaries 37.344 26,739 - 84.083
Exchange difference 3.946 AL - 3.107
At 31 August 2021 357.752 168,225 - 525977
Finalisation of prior
acquisitions™* 3.149 - - 3.149
At 1 September 2021 360.901 168.225 - 529.126
Acquisition of subsidiarics* 118.540 36.354 - 154.894
Additions - - 6,181 6.181
Reclassification from property.
plant and equipment (note F4)*** - - 12,798 12.798
Exchange difference 52.334 25,429 (39) 77.724
At 31 August 2022 531775 230,008 18,940 780,723
Amortisation and impairment
At | September 2020 - (33.268) - {33.268)
Charge for the year - (14,986) - (14.986)
Exchange difference - (1,538) - (1.338)
At 31 August 2021 - (49.792) - (49.792)
Charge for the vear - (21,295} (4,797} (26.092)
Impairment (3.683) - - (3.685)
Reclassification from property.
plant and equipment {note 14}*** - - (3,650) {3.650)
Exchange difference 371 (7,299) 23 (6,903)
At 31 August 2022 (3.314) (78,386) (8,424 (90,124)
Carrying amount
At 31 August 2022 528.461 151.622 10,516 690.399
AL31 August 2021 357.752 118,433 - 476,185

* The intangibles acquired in the vear include the amounts included on acquisition as set out in note 30. The Group tests
goodwill annually for impairment, or more frequently if there are indications that goodwill might be impaired.

** The goodwill arising on the acquisitions in 2021 was updated in the year due to finalisation of the balance sheet as at
the date of acquisition during the measurement period permitted by IFRS 3.

***[T software. with a net book value of €9.148.000 at 31 August 2021, was reclassified from furniture and fixturcs in
property. plant and equipment 1o intangible assets during the year to better reflect the nature of the underlying assets. The
prior year comparatives have not been reclassified as the impact to Group property. plant and equipment, intangible assets
and net assets was deemed immaterial to restate.
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NOTE 13 - INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL (continued)
The recaverable amount of the C(GUs is based on fair valuc less costs to sell. Fair value is determined by multiplying the
budgeted EBITDA for the next 12 months, by a market driven multiple. The fair value measurement was categorised as

a Level 3 fair value based on the inputs in the valuation technique used.

The CGUs for the purpose of impatrment testing of goodwill are analysed by school/group of scheols and are listed below.

(in €0007) 31 Augast 2022 31 Augest 2021
Carrying amount

Al Nibras International Private School L1.C 32,080 27,221
Ausia Pacific Schools 38.485 35,232
Baton Rouge International School - 3,315
Bellevue Children’s Academy 15,763 13,377
British Education Management, S.L. 26.878 26,878
Claremont Schoot (S Leonard’s) Limited 25,545 25.577
Colegios Pedro De Valdivia 19,349 18,659
Institute Thomas Jefferson 13,446 11,420
Kchoe-France 5,419 4.599
L.a Colina Scheol 4,177 4,051
Liceo Panamericano, Colegio La Moderna 23,391 19,849
Montessori Academy of Broward 6,396 5.428
Park House English School 17.871 15,127
Reach British School [I.C 2,794 2,370

St Jude School 3,936 3.441
St George™s School 30,767 26,109
Tenby Schools 46,433 42,508
Tomas Alva Edison School 18,535 15,742
Rowntree Montessori Schools 8.988 7.768
Lynn-Rose $chool 2,661 3,841
Mile Bilingual School 11,210 11,657
British School of Genevy 16,583 13,164
British Royal School 24,234 20,419
Riviera Preparatory and Day Schools 89,047 -
Straits International Education Group 8,935 -
Ecolc Mosaic 9,556 -
Colegio Terranova 10,668 -
St. Mary s School 15,314 -
Star International School - -

528,461 357,752
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NOTE 13 - INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL (continued)

Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiarics in the year ended 31 August 2022 was allocated as per the helow table.,
See note 30 for calculations of goodwill per acquisition.

€000°s
Ecole Mosaic 8.666
Rivicra Preparatory and Day Schools 77.257
Straits Internationat Education Group 8.421
st. Mara “s School 14421
Colegio l'erranova 9,775
Star International School -
Total 118,540

Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries in the vear ended 31 August 2021 was allocated as pcr the below table.

€000’s
Rowntree Montessori Schools 7,390
[.ynn-Rose School 3.681
Mile Bilingual School 11.657
British School of Geneva 12,917
British Roya! School 21,699

57,344

impairment review

The recoverable amount of goodwill is assessed on an annual basis for impairment, The recoverable amount of the CGUSs
is based on fair value less costs to sell. Fair value is determined by multiplying the budgeted EBITDA for the next 12
menths, by a market driven multiple.

The fair value measurement was categorised as a Level 3 fair value based on the inputs in the valuation technigue uscd.
The key assumptions used in the estimation of the recoverable amount are variables that impaet the budgeted normaliscd
EBITDA for the next 12 months and the multiple used.

Budgeted normalised EBITDA for FY22 was estimated considering experience, adjusted as follows:
- Revenuc growth was projected considering the expected change in enroiments and twition fees considering the
initial investment case and the local regulations; and
- Fstimated significant one-off costs and inflationary increases.

The estimated recoverable amount of the CGU’s exceeded its carrying amount by approximately €1,277.1 million (2021:
€926.9 million), Management has jdentificd that no reasonable possible change in the exit multiple could cause the
carrying amount to excced the recoverable amount. The following table shows the amount by which the exit multiple
assumption would need to change individually for the estimate recoverable amount to be equal to the carrying amount.
In percent 2022 2021
Exit muhiiple 233% 222%
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NOTE 13 - INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL (continued)

Value-in-Use

The annual impairment review did not identily impairment of any individual CGU., However. the excess ol recoverable
amount over the carrying amount for five of the CGU™s was deemed shallow enough to warrant the preparation of value-
in-use calculations for the select CGU s in order to demonstrate thal impairment was not required.

The value-in-use model was prepared for the following CGUs:
- AlNibras International Private School (“Nibras™)
- Asia Pacific School ("APS™)
- Claremont School (“Claremont™)
- Ecole Mosaic ("Mosaic™}
- British School of Geneva ("BSG™)

The value-in-use model incorporated the following key assumptions;
- EBITDA cashflow projcctions for the next 5 years and a terminal growth rate thereafier,
- EBITDA is based on thc most recent budget and expected future enrolment and tuition growth, as well as
appropriate and significant increases in the cost base.
- Discounted at the appropriate pre-tax region-specilic rate (Nibras: UAE: 3.6%, APS: Malaysia: 9.7%,
Claremont: UK: 11.2%, and Mesaic and BSG: Swiss: 6.0%)

The Group has conducted a sensitivity analysis on the impairment test of each CGU’s carrying value. In particular, the
analysis was performed assuming an increase of 3% in the pre-tax discount rate, forecast staff cosis increasing by the
same percentage as forecast tuition fees and forecast revenue growth reduced to the forecast inflation rate in each of the
CGU’s country. Under each ol these sensitivity scenarios, there was no impairment in any CGU.
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NOTE 14 - PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPVMENT

The table below shows the movements in property, plant and equipment in the yearto 31 August 2022 including additions.
transfers from construction in progress ("CIP”). disposals. cffect of movements in exchange rates and acquisitions,

Fixtures,
Land and  fittings and Other

buildings equipment assets CIP Total
€000's €0u’s €000°s €000's €0H's
Cost at ! September 2020 567347 53.33¢% 16,640 21.034 660,780
Acquisition of subsidiary 21406 1.588 127 - 23,121
Additions 12,505 13.524 317 8824 35,670
Disposals 143} (557 119 (1.5355) (2,174)
Transter from CIP 12.144 4722 (135) {16731 -
Exchange difference 15,204 1,169 291 270 16,934
Cost at 31 August 2021 628.563 73,785 20121 11.862 734,331
Acquisition of subsidiary 156,839 8662 7 9 165,517
Additions 48 884 14.867 2.063 9.302 75,118
Disposals 13.677) {2.720 {310} - (6,907)
Assets held for sale tnote 12) (8446 - - - (8,446)
Transfer from CIF 733 576 3 11.312) -
Reclassification 1377 1 866 (139 11,367 1.737
Reclassification to intangible assets (note 133 - (12.798, - - (12,798}
Reclasstfication for incorrect categorisation of a bunlding** 12,324 - (12324 - -

Recognition of fair value adjustments on land previously
written oft inerror** * 7.784 - - - 7.784
Exchange difference 85847 10.857 4319 1.580 102,603
Cost at 31 August 2022 930228 5043 13 542 20.074 1,058,939
Depreciation at 1 September 2020 {76.323) 121,547) (1 404 - (99,274)
Depreciation charge (ZLR77) (11.691) (1,972) - (35,540)
Disposals (184) 432 33 - 281
Exchange differences (6240 (674) (190 - (7,104)
Depreciation at 31 August 2021 1104.624) {33480} (3.533) - {141,637)
Depreciation charge (30.482) (12,988 (1416) - {14,886)
Disposals 2820 1.932 334 - 5086
Assets held for sale (note 12) 1518 - - - 1.518
Rectassification {714 (696 (327} - (1,737)
Reclassification 1o intanpible assets (note 13)* - 31,650 - - 3.650
Reclassification for incorrect categorisation of a building** (843 - 843 - -
Rewersal of excess depreciation on a leased building® #** 4912 - - - 4,912
Exchange differences (16404} (6.533) {2.278i - (25215}
Depreciation at 31 August 2022 (143817 (48,115} 16.377) - (198,309)
NBV at 1 September 2020 491.024 31.792 17.636 21.054 561,506
NBV at 31 August 2021 523939 40305 16,588 11.862 592,694
NBV at 31 August 2022 786 411 46,980 7.163 20074 860.630

*Costs and related accumutated amortisation of I'T software have been reclassified from furniture and fixtures in property.
plant and equipment to intangible assets during the year to better reflect the underly ing nature of the assets. The prior year
comparatives have not becn reclassitied as the impact to Group property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and net
asscts was deemed immaterial to restate.
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NOTE 14 - PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

**Costs and related accumulated depreciation associated with an owned building have been reclassified from other asseis
to land and buildings during the year to better reflect the underlying nature of the asset. No changes were required to the
expected useful life of the asset. The prior vear comparatives have not been reclassified as the impact to Group property,
plant and equipment and net assets was deemed immaterial to restate.

*+*Lair value adjustments to land acquired in previous business combinations were crroneously written off in a prior
period through depreciation expense and the currency translation reserve, During the year, an adjustment of €7,784,000
was made te land and buildings to reinstate the asset value, with offsetting adjustments required to opening retained
earnings of €2,292 000 and translation reserves of €5,492,000. The prior year comparatives have not been restated as the
impact to Group property, plant and equipment and net assets was deemed immaterial to restate.

****Accumulated depreciation on a leased building was adjusted during the year to correct for €4,912,000 of excess
depreciation taken erroneously on the assct in prior periods. This was adjusted 1o opening retained earnings. The prior
year comparatives have not been restated as the impact to Group property, plant and equipment and net assets was deemed
immaterial to restate.

Right-of-use assets
Set out below are the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets recognised and the movements during the vear.

Fixtures,

Land and fittings and
buildings equipment Total
€000's €000's €000's
Net book value at 1 September 2021 211,207 240 211,447
Acquisitions 90,126 - 90,126
Additions 31.756 417 32,173
Depreciation charge {18,704) (200} (18,904)

Reversal of excess depreciation on a leased

building**** 4,912 - 4,912
Exchange differences 28.751 33 28.804
Net book value at 31 August 2022 348,048 510 348,558
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NOTE 15 - TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLLES

31 August 31 August
(in €000's) 2022 2021

Non-current
Amount duc from related party (note 28) 3.231 -
Other receivables 5,968 -
9,199 -

Current

ITrade debtors 21,153 22,908
Amount due from related party {note 28) - 3.078
Other receivables 9,925 3,643
Deposits 22928 . 11,377
o 54,006 41,006

‘Trade and other receivables are classified as current if the terms and conditions for payment are within the next 12 months.

The amount reccivable from related party is due from Permotio International Learning S.a.r.l, the immediate parent
company of the Group. During the year the repayment terms of the related party agreement were reviewed and the
receivable was determined to be non-current in nature.

Other receivables do not contain any significant individual balances and the balances apparent are different in nature. The
most significant balance relates to amounts owed from parties associated to a school.

Past due receivables and doubtful debts are provided for in full, with costs going through other costs.

NOTE 16 - CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

.. 31 August 3! August
(in €000's) 2gozz 2g021
Bank balances 108,733 229219
Total 108,733 229,219
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NOTE 17 - EQUITY
17.1 Share capital and share premium
As at 31 August 2022, the Company had issued and outstanding 1,401,941,247 Ordinary sharcs of €0.00001 each.

During the year, the previously issued class A. A1, Bl. B2, C. D, and E ordinary shares were subdivided so that cach had
a par value of €0.00001. The shares were subsequently redesignated as Ordinary shares at a par value of €0.00001 per
sharc. Lacls shaie has equivalent rights.

An additional 3 Ordinary shares were issued at a premium of €19,814,557, €34,572.055 and €39,500,000 respectively.

The Company further resolved to reduce the share premium account by €163,886.611, with thc amount to be credited to
the distributable reserve account.

Itz shares (thousands) A B Ordinary Al B2 C D E
On issue at | September 202 1,361 3 - 121 - 14 6 -
Sub-division of shares 1.361 561 3.054 - 1.207 36000 14 6 100
Change of share class designation (1,361,561  (3054) 1,401,941 1,207y (36,000 (14) {6) (100}

Issued during the year - - - -

On issue at 31 August 2022 - - 1,401,941 - - - - -

Capital management

The Group's policy is to maintain a strong capital base to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain
future development of the business. The Group does this through both reinvesting in the business and seeking to maintain
a balance between the higher returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowing and the advantages and security
afforded by a sound capital position. The Group monitors capital using an adjusted net leverage ratio which aligns with
its largest external banking agreement.

31 August 31 August

2022 2021

Allotted, called up and fully paid € €
Share premium 394,476,573 464,476,572
Ordinary sharcs 14,019 14,019

17.2 Capital contribution reserve

The reserve comprises contributions made to the Company from its shareholders, other than in exchange for the issue of
equity instruments.

17.3 Other reserves

The reserve recognises the value of equity settled share-based payments provided to employees, including key management
petsonnel, as part of their remuneration. Refer to note 27 for further details of the plan.
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NOTE 17 — EQUITY (continued)

17.4 Translation reserves

Exchange differences relating to the translation ol the results and net assets of the Group’s foreign operations from their
functional currencies to the Group's presentation currency (Euro ~€7), are recognised directly in other comprehensive

income and accumulated in the translation reserve.

17.5 Other components of equity

The disaggregation of changes of other comprehensive income items by each type of other components of equity is shown

below:
Total
Other
Cash flow hedge Cost of hedging components of
reserve reserve equity
€000's €000's €000's
Balance at 1 September 2021 - - -
Interest rate caps change in fair value (26,264) 2,656 (23,608)
Reclassificd to statement of profit or loss - (745) (745)
Tax movements on reserves during the year 4.990 (363) 4.627
Balance at 31 August 2022 (21,274) 1,548 {19,726}

17.6 Non-controlling interest

The Group’s subsidiaries with non-controlling interests are as follows:

- ISP Kehoe Holdings LLC, Kehoe-France Inc., Kehoe-France Day Camp, Inc., River Forest Partners LLC, and

France Family Partners LLP, which are all, directly or indirectly, owned 95%.
- Formacién, Educacion Y Cultura, S.C., which is owned 90%.

- St. Mary’s Edumangement Services Private Limited and St. Mary’s Society, which are each, directly and

indirectly, owned 75%.

- Star Schools Holding Limited and Star International School LLC, which are each, directly and indirectly, owned

80%.

The Group has not disclosed information relating to 1FRS 12.10¢a)(ii}. 12, B10-11. as no Group subsidiaries have a

material non-controlling interest.

NOTE 18 - FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

The following table shows the carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and liabilities, including their fevels in
the fair value hierarchy. It does not include fair value information for financial assets and liabilities not mecasured at fair

vatue if the carrying amouni is a reasonable approximation of fair value.

Carrying amount

Fair value (level 2)

2022 2021 2022 2021
€ 000 € 000 € 800 € 400

Financial assets
Intcrest rate swaps (note 19) 236 - 236 -
[nterest rate caps not designated as a hedging instrument (note 19) 1.174 - 1,174 -
[nterest rate caps designated as a hedging instrument (note 19) 27913 - 27,913 -
29,323 - 29,323 -
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NOTE 18 - FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

Carrying amount Fair value (level 3)
2022 2021 2022 2021
€000 € 000 € 000 € 000

Other financial liabilities
Contingent consideration {note 22) (16,719 (9,852) {16,719) {9,852)

(16,719) 9.852)  (16,719) (9,852)

The fair value of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables. trade and other payables and term deposits. are
considered be the same as their carrying amounts largely due to the short-term nature.

The initial fair value of the liability portion of borrowings arc determined using a market intcrest rate for an equivalent
non-convertible bond at the issuc date, The liabilities are subsequently recognised on an amortiscd cost basis until

extinguished on conversion or maturity. When calculating the fair value of the borrowings, consideration has been made
to the market rate, maturity and significance of the borrowing.

During the year ended 31 August 2022 and 31 August 2021, there were no reclassifications in or out of the Level 2 and
Level 3 fair value categories.

NOTE 19 — FINANCIAL ASSETS
19.1 Derivatives

The Group is exposed to certain risks relating to its ongoing business operations, The primary risk managed using
derivative instruments is interest rate risk.

‘L he Group’s risk management strategy and how it is applied to manage risk are explained in note 5.

31 August 31 August
(in €000's) 2022 2021
Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments
Interest raic caps 1.174 -
Interest rate swaps 236 -
Derivatives designated as hedging instruments
Interest rate caps 27,913 -
Total financial assets at fair value 29,323 -
Current 1.410 -
Non-current 27,913 -

Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments rellect the positive change in fair value o! interest rate caps and swaps
not designated as hedge contracts but arc intended to reduce the level of intcrest rate risk in the bank loans.

Derivatives designated as hedging instruments rcflect the positive change in fair valuc of interest rate caps designated as
cash flow hedges to hedge highly probabie movements in the interest rate on the bank loans. There were no derivatives
designated as hedging instruments in the prior vear.
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NOTE 19 — FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued)
19.2 Hedging activities
The derivatives designated as hedging instruments are classificd as cash flow hedges.

In January 2022, the Group entered into interest rate cap conlracts in order to reduce the expected volatility attributable to
interest rate fluctuations in the Euribor on the bank loans. Hedging the interest rate volatility in Euribor is in accordance
with the risk management strategy determined by management.

There is an economic relationship between the hedged items and the hedging instruments as the terms of the interest rate
caps match the terms of the expected highly probable forecast transactions. The Group has established a hedge ratio of 50
to 90% of its estimated interest rate risk exposure on the bank loans for the hedging relationship. To test the hedge
effectiveness, the Group compares the critical terms matching. and if there is a deviation, compares changes in the fair
value of the hedging instruments against the changes in fair value of the hedged itlems arttributable to the hedged risks.

The hedge ineffectiveness can arise from:
¢ Differences in the timing of the cash tlows of the hedged items and the hedging instruments
¢ The counterparties” credit risk ditferently impacting the fair value movements of the hedging instruments and
hedged items
* (Changes to the forecasted amount of cash flows of hedged items and hedging instruments

As at 31 August 2022, the Group is holding three interest rate caps with a total nominal amount of €482.4m, The interest
rate caps have a term of 3 years and are due to mature on 23 January 2025, 26 February 2025 and 22 March 2025. The
interest rate caps protect the Group from rate increases in the Euribor above 0.5%.

The impact of the hedging instruments on the statement of financial position is as follows:

Change in fair
value used for

Nominal Carrying Line item in the statement of . 'measurlng
] o ineffectiveness for
amount amount financial position "
the period
As at 31 August 2022 €000 €000 €000
Intercst rate caps 482.350 27913 Non-current financial assets -

The impact of hedged items on the statement of financial pesition is as follows:

Change in fair . Balances remaining in the cash flow
Cash flow Cost of .
value used for . hedge reserve from hedging
, hedge hedging A . .
measuring relationships for which hedge
. . reserve reserve L .
ineffectiveness accounting is no lenger applied
As at 31 August 2022 €000 €000 €000 €000
Bank loans - (21.274) 1.548 -

The impact of the cash flow hedge in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income (“OCI™) is as (ollows:

Total Amount
hedging Cost of  reclassified
gain Ineffectiveness hedging from OCl1 Line item in the
recognised recognised in recognised to profit or statement of profit or
in OC1 profit or loss in OCI loss loss
€000 €000 €000 €000
Interest rate caps (26.264) - 2,656 (743) Financc cost

53



Consolidated financial statements
[nternational Schools Partnership Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

NOTE 20 - BORROWINGS

31 August 31 August
(in €000's) 2022 2021
Bank loans 827.039 780,163
Borrowing costs (23,677} (30.493)
l.ease liabilities 398,145 280,792
Other loans 37.919 20.699
Total 1,239,426 1,051,159
Current 13,067 16,059
Non-¢urrent 1,226,359 1,035,100

There are three significant bank loans that are all Euro denominated. The following amounts are drawn on the available
facilitics as at 31 August 2022:

e Term Loan 1 (€338.6m principal plus accrued interest) is repayable in July 2028,

e Acquisition Facility (€432.9m principal plus accrued interest) is repayable in July 2028.

¢ Revolving Credit Facility (€50m principal plus accrued interest) is repayable in January 2028,

Included within the bank loan creditors are capitaliscd deal fees ot €23,677.000 (2021: €30.495,000), which are amortised
over a peried of 7 years, Of these, €6,991,000 is duc to be amortised within 12 months of the balance sheet date,

T'he interest rates on the bank loans range from: Base rate + 3%~5.75% plus Euribor.
Other loans relate to loans held by subsidiaries across the Group, which have varying interest and repayment periods.

Leases as a lessee
The Group recognises right-of-use assels and lease liabilitics on the balance sheet in line with under IFRS 16.

Right-of-use assels
Right-of-use assets related to lease properties that do not meet the definition ol investment properties are presented as
property, plant and equipment (see note 14).

The Group leases school buildings. Leases typically run for a period of up to 25 years, though the longest unexpired
lcase term is 170 years,

Lease liability interest is disclosed in note 9. Leases ol low value assets. or short-term lease are expensed. The total
expense for such leases in the year was €4,059,567 (2021: €4,970,728).
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Reconciliation of movements of liabilities to cash flows arising from financing activitics

(in €000’s) Bank loans and borrowings Lease liabilities

Balance at 1 September 2021 770,368 280.792

Changes from financing cash flows

Proceeds from new bank loan 46,500 -
Repayment of borrowings (30.788) -
Repayment of leases - {27,016)
Capitalised borrowing costs (612} -
Interest paid (68,972) -
Total changes from financing cash flows (53.872) (27,016}
Other changes

Lease additions - 31,559
Liabilities acquired 48,012 58,445
Interest expense 76.773 23,552
Reversal of excess interest expense previously

recognised on a leased building* - (5,277
Exchange differences - 36,090
Total other changes 124,785 144,369
Balance at 31 August 2022 841,281 398,145

*Lcasc liability related to a leased building was adjusted during the year to correct for €5,277,000 of excess finance lease
interest taken erroneously on the lease in prior periods. This was adjusted to opening retained earnings.

Ii the Group exceeded its leverage covenant (11.75:1 maximum permitted as at 31 August 2022) and is not cured (if
capable of being cured) within 20 business days of the delivery of the compliance certificate. the term loan and acquisition
facility would become repayable on demand. The Group did not exc¢eed this leverage covenant as at 31 August 2022 and
docs not expect to over the going concern period, see note 1.

The shares of [SP Chile Limited, ISP Colombia Limited. ISP Costa Rica Limitcd, ISP India Limited (formerly ISP
Dormant 1 Limited). ISP Ecuador Limited, 1SP Malaysia Limited. ISP Peru Limited. 1SP Vietnam [imited, PIL Europe
Holdings Limited, PIL Mexico Holdings 1 Limited. PIL Mexico Holdings 2 Limited, PIL Middle East Holdings Limited,
Pll. UK Holdings 1 Limited and ISP North America Limited have been pledged as security for the loan.

NOTE 21 - TERM DEPOSITS

31 August 31 August
(in €000°s) 2022 2021
Term deposits 13,197 12.028
Total 13,197 12,028

The term deposits balance relates to security deposits (which are typically non-refundable) paid in advance of students
joining a school,
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NOTE 22 — OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

31 August 31 August
(in €000's) 2022 2021
Deferred consideration 12,466 7.620
Contingent consideration 4253 2,232
Total 16719 9,852
Current 9475 9,326
Non-current 7.244 526

The deterred and contingent consideration balances at year end relate to the following acquisitions:

31 August 31 August
(in €000's) 2022 2021
Deferred consideration
Tomas Alva Edison School 5.040 4280
British School of Geneva 1.376 1.235
Bellevue Children’s Academy 698 2,105
Ecole Mosaic 1.614 -
Riviera Preparatory and Day Schools 2,990 -
Star International School 748 -
12,466 1620
Contingent consideration
Mile Bilingual School - 2,232
St. Mary’s School* 1.944 -
Star International School* 2,309 -
4,253 2,232

*Refer to note 30 for details on the nature of the arrangements and fair value measurement of the consideration related to
the current year acquisitions.

The mevement in the deferred consideration balance during the year for Tomas Alva Edison School is related to exchange
differences. Subscquent to year end, the Group settled the balance on Tomas Alva Edison School by acquiring the
remaining 10% non-controlling interest, refer to note 31.

The movement in the deferred consideration balance during the year for British School of Geneva is related to exchange
differences. Subsequent te year end, the Group actually paid out €1,280,000 (C11F1,240.000), which was based on the
amount per the purchase agreement adjusted for final working capital and debt adjustments.

In accordance with the purchase agreement, USD2,100,000 of deferred consideration on Bellevue Children’s Academy
was repaid during the year. One payment of USD700,000 is outstanding at year end and due for repayment on 31 May
2023. The remaining movement on the balance during the year is related to exchange differences.

The Mile Bilingual School paid out €1,066.000 contingent consideration during the year, which was based on the final

trade debtors™ position and student enrolments. The remaining balance was released and recognised in the statement of
profit and loss.
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NOTE 23 - PROVISIONS

Long-term

incentive plan

€000°s

At 1 September 2021 -
Arising during the year 890
At 31 August 2022 .

In 2022. the Group introduced a long-term incentive plan ("LTIP™) which grants awards based on performance to certain
employees of the Group. The awards are granted annually to employees that meet specified performance targets for the
year. All awards will vest at the time of the Group’s next equity refinancing, which is deemed to be in 5 years. Entitlement
1o the awards is subject to continued employment up to, and including, the vesting date. [fan employee leaves employment
belore the vesting date, with exception of redundancy, the employee will forgo the right to any awards previously granted.

The fair value of the LTIP at 31 August 2022 was €890,000. The fair value was calculated based on the expected present
value of the probability-weighted average of all possible future cash flows, based on the issued and outstanding awards at
31 August 2022, The liability is remeasured at fair value at each reporting date, up to and including the vesting datc. Any
changes in fair value are recognised in profit or loss for the peried. The total expense recognised for the period in staff
costs in respect of the LTIP was €890,000.

NOTE 24 - TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

31 August 31 August
(in €0090's) 2022 2021
Trade creditors 14,445 8,039
Capex creditor 2,197 1,511
Payroll creditor 12,166 12,209
Payroll taxes creditor 3.411 -
VAT creditor 1,761 -
Other creditors 11.248 10,862
Accruals 29,362 21716
Total 74,590 54,337
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NOTE 25 - SUBSIDIARIES

The Group consists of @ parent company, International Schools Partnership Limited, incorporated in United Kingdem and
several subsidiaries held directly and indirectly by International Schools Partnership Limited.

The ownership is the same in current and previous year, except for subsidiaries purchased in the year, please sec note 30

for further details.

The group has also merged the following subsidiaries during the year: Elememary School Thomas Jefferson, S.C.,
Kindergarden Thomas Jeflerson, 8.C. and Pink & Blue, S.C. following the transier of their trade and assets to High School
Thomas Jefferson, S.C., and Kindcrgarden Thomas Jeflerson Company Guadalajara, §.C. following the transfer of its
trade and asscts to Instituto Thomas Jefterson Campus Guadalajara 5.C.

-

Colegio San Jorge de Miratlores S.C.R.L.

— Peri

Percentage
ownership
Company name Registered address of
ordinary
shares
. 1785 Qucen Street East, Unit §, Brampton, Ontario, o
4039459 Canada l.id Canada L6T 453 100%
Calle Ozumbitla, Mz 99 Lt 117, Los Héroes de Tecamac
A . Seccion Bosques, Tecdmac, 55764 State of Mexico o
Abastecedora Escolar TAE, §A. de C.V. 1 g i Publico de Ta Propiedad de Tlalnepantla, Estado | 0072
de México)
Administradora de Colegios Pedro de Administradora de Colegios Pedro de Valdivia SpA, L00%
Valdivia SpA Santiago, Chile °
;\lldgllaias International Private School PO Box 54084, Dubai, UAE 499,
N Av. de Chitelaine $5A .
Ark Holdings SA 1219 Chatelain, Geneva. Switzerland 100%
. Av. de Chitelaine 95A a
ASC International House SA 1219 Chatelain, Geneva. Switzerland 100%
Level 13A-6, Mcnara Milenium, Jalan Damanlela, Pusat
Asia Pacific Schools Sdn. Bhd. Bandar Damansara, 50490, Kuala Lumpur, Wilayah 100%
| Persckutuan. Malaysia.
| Aspen Heights British School LLC ** PO Box 137352. Abu Dhabi. UAE. 0%
Aspen Heights Educational Facilities . o
| Management Scle Proprictorship LLC ** PO Box 33366, Abu Dhabi, UAE. 0%
British Education Management. S.1.. Avenida ‘Leptaurea 8, 29018 Cerrado De Calderon, 100%
Malaga Spain
Centro Educacional Escuela Catolica Costa Rica, San Jose,‘ S-;_anta Ana, o
Activa. S.A Posos. one and a half kilometer west from Banco 100%
cliva, >.A- DAVIVIENDA
Claremont School (St. Leonards) Limited | L00 NeW Bridge Strect, London, EC4V 6JA, United 100%
Kingdom
. . .. Av Las Perdices 263, La Reina o
Colegio British Royal School SpA Santiago, Chile 100%
i:gfgl” Pedro de Valdivia Las Condes Av. Las Condes 13349, Las Condes, Chile 100%
Colegio Pedro de Valdivia Pefialolén SpA | Av. Quilin 5473, Peiialolén. Santiago. Chile 100%
Fégkgm Pedro de Valdivia Providencia Av. Pedro de Valdivia 1939, Providencia, Santiago. Chile 160%
Av. Gieneral Ernesto Montagne N° 360, Miraflores, Lima 100%
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NOTE 25 — SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Calfe Doctor Fleming, 3, [0ih tloor - lefi, 28036

Colegios L o) 0
olegios Laude, SA Madrid Spain. 100%
Compania Scolasticomp C. Ltda Sar} Juan Alto de las Ricles 307 y Av. Simon Bolivar. 100%
Quito- [cuador
Corporacion CLLR $.A C. ;)\;L]General Ernesto Montagne N° 360, Miraflores, Lima — 100%
Ecole Mosaic SA Avenue Dumas 23, 1206 Geneve 100%
Level 13A-6, Menara Milenium, Jalan Damanlela, Pusat
Fondcare Sdn. Bhd. Bandar Damansara, 50490, Kuala L.umpur, Wilayah 100%
Persckutuan. Malaysia.
Calle Heriberto Frias 1401. Colonia del Valle Sur,
. S - Alcaldia Benito Juarez, C,P, 03104, Mexico City, Mexico
l.. - . }A‘d . - S.C. . . N i3 » s‘ A 4 3 0,
ormacion. Lducacion ¥ Cultura. 8.C (Registro Piblico de la Propiedad y det Comercio de la 90%
Ciudad de México)
. o - 3867 Plaza Tower Drive, Baton
France Family Partners L . ) e
rance Family Partners [LLP Rouge, Louisiana 70816. 93%
Hamilton International Development s .
Limited (formerly known as Marlborough gle;alme(ir 56 - street number 1117 building number 117, 100%
Group Limited) oha, Qalar.
Manuel Payno No 40, Ciudad Satélite. Municipio de
High School Thomas Jefferson. S.C. Naucalpan de Juarez, C.P. 53100, State of Mexico 100%
(Registro Publico de la Propiedad de Tlalnepantla)
. . 3rd floor, Belvedere Building, 28A Trian Hung Bao, Phan
H T to Joint § | . Lo 459
anoi Toronto Joint Stock Company Chu Trinh ward, Hoan Kiem District, Hanoti city, Vietnam 4345%
Level 13A-6, Menara Milenium, Jalan Damanlcla, Pusat
Ilmu Bijak Bestari Sdn. Bhd. ** Bandar Damansara, 50490, Kuala Lumpur. Wilayah 0%
Persckutuan, Malaysia.
Boulevard Miguel Cervantes Saavedra 169, piso 2,
P . . . Colonia Granda. Alcaldia Miguel Hidalgo C.P. 11520,
1 1 de Mexic %
nmobiliaria de Mexico Mes, S.A. de C.V. Mexico City. (Registro Plblico de la Propiedad y de 100%
Comercio de la Ciudad de México)
Inmobiliaria Emibu S.A. Dolores $ucrc 302 and Nicolas Augusto Gonzalez, 100%
Guayaquil - Ecuador
Inmobiliaria Panamericana C.A. Dolores S_ucrc 302 and Nicolas Augusto Gonzalez, 100%
Guayaquil - Ecuador.
Calle Amores 1620. Colonia Del Valle. Alcaldia Benito
Inmobiliaria Pel. S.A. Juarez C.P. 03100, Mexico City, (Registro Publico de la 100%
Propiedad y de Comercio de la Ciudad de México)
[nstitute Educativo Moderno De Guayaquil | Plot No. 4, Km. 2.5 Via Samborondon, Samborondon, o
o . 100%
Incmoquil C. Lida. Guayas Province, Ecuador.
Instituto Thomas Jefferson Company Avemc_ia_Aster(‘)lde‘s 1200, LoloEua Rancho'Sam Antonio, .
Querétaro. 5.C. Municipio de Santiago de Querétaro. Querétaro C.P. 100%
) - 76149 (Registro Pablico de la Propiedad de Querétaro)
Vialidad Ramal [.a Tijera 1753, Municipio de 1lajomulco
Instituto Thomas Jefterson Guadalajara, de Zuniga, Localidad Las Amapas C.P. 45640 1009
5.C Guadalajara. Jalisco {Registro Pabiico de la Propiedad y de °
Comercio de Jalisco)
Avenida Prolongacion Jesus 3451, Colonia Los Girasoles
" - . . | Municipio de Zapopan Guadalajara, Jalisco. C.P. 45130
Instituto Th Jelle . L NS . <
nstituto Thomas Jellerson Valle Real. §.C (Registro Pablico de la Propiedad v de Comercie de 100%
Jalisco)
[nternational Parents Trust, [.1.C 3867 Plaza Tower Drive, Baton 100%

Rouge, Louisiana 70816
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NOTE 25 - SUBSIDIARIES (continned)

International Schools Partnership Services

100 New Bridge Street, London, EC4V 6JA. United

\F)
Limited* Kingdom 100%
Inversiones La Colina MCM, S A S, La Calera, Cundinamarca, Colombia 100%
Level 13A-6, Menara Milenium, Jalan, Damanlela, Pusart
Ipoh International School Sdn. Bhd. Bandar Damansara, 50490, Kuala Lumpur. Wilayah 100%
Persekutuan, Malaysia.
1209 Orange Strect, Wilmington,
ISP B: y o,
aton Rouge, Inc. Delaware 19801 100%
ISP Bellevue Ine. ;;;Oﬁapﬂol Way South. Suite 204, Olympia, Washington 100%
. 1200 South Pine Island Road
[SP Brow s LI.C ’ 9
roward Holdings LLC Plantation, Florida 33324. 100%
. 1200 South Pine Island Road
ISP Brow " o,
roward LLC Plantation. Florida 33324 100%
[SP Chile Limited (formerly PIL Brazil 100 New Bridge Strect, London. EC4V 6JA. United [00%
loldings 1 Limited)* Kingdom °
[SP Chile SpA 5561 Oficina 401, Las Condes, Santiago Chile 100%
ISP Colombia Limited (formerly ISP 100 New Bridge Street, London, EC4V 6JA, United 100%
Dormant 3 Limited }* Kingdom °
ISP Colombia SAS L.a Calera, Cundinamarca, Colombia 100%
ISP Costa Rica Limited* 100 New Bridge Strect, London, EC4V 6JA, United 100%
Kingdom °
. . 1209 Orange Street, Wilmingion.
ISP East Coas : 0
ast Coast Holdings Inc Delaware 19801 100%
ISP Ecuador Limited* 100 New Bridge Street, London, EC4V 6JA, United 100%
Kingdom °
- o 100 New Bridge Street, London, EC4V 6JA. United
ISPl * o
ndia Limited Kingdom 100%
. 3867 Plaza Tower Drive, Baton
ISP Kehoe Hold ) . ! °
¢hoe Holdings [.LC Rouge, Louisiana 70816 93%
ISP Malavsia Limited* 100 New Bridge Street, London, EC4V 6JA, United 100%
i Kingdom ’
ISP North America Limited (formerly PIL 100 New Bridge Street, London, EC4V 6JA, United 100%
US llpldings Limited)* Kingdom ’
ISP Peru Limited* 100 New Bridge Street, London, EC4V 6JA, United 100%
) Kingdom °
. 1209 Orange Street, Wilmington.
ISP US H i v
S Holdings Inc Delaware 19801 100%
1200 South Pine Island Road
ISP Us "o, . X ’ v
§ Management Co Plantation, Florida 33324 100%
. . 02 land plot, Tay Ho Tay New Urban Area, Xuan Tao
ISPV : . L. . °
ietnam Joint Stock Company Ward, Bac Tu Liem District, Hanoi city, Vietnam 100%
ISP Vietnam Limited® 100 New Bridge Street. T.ondon. EC4V 6JA. United 100%
) Kingdom ?
. 160 Greentree Drive, Suite 101
ISP W st Hold : N : %
est Coast Holdings Inc Dover, Delaware 19904 100%
3867 Plaza Tower Drive, Baton
hoe- ay C: ; 2 ’ D
Kehoe-France Day Camp, Inc. Rouge, Louisiana 70816 95%
Kehoo-France lnc. 3867 Plaza Tower Drive, Baton 95%

Rouge, Louisiana 70816.
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NOTE 25 - SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

KK Straits International Education Group

Level 13A-6, Menara Milenium, Jalan Damanlela, Pusat

© Bandar Damansara. 50490, Kuala Lumpur, Wilayah 100%
Sdn. Bhd. B
_ Persekutuan, Malaysia
. . 3000 Wachovia Financial Center, 200 South Biscayne
Lz : ) ACHO , a,
4o CG LEC . Blvd, Miami, FL 33131, USA 100%
icco Panamericano LPSA S.A. | [?olorcs S'uc1:c 302 and Nicolas Augusto Gonzaler, 100%
Guayaquil. Ecuadoer
. i 7215 Millcreek Drive, Mississauga, Ontario,
L 3 ! [1)
_ynn Rose Corp _ Canada. LSN 3R3 100%
i - - P T
. 7215 Millereck Drive, Mississauga. Ontario.
Lynn- c °
ynn-Rose College Inc. . Canada, LSN 3R3 100%
" Via 8.G. Cottolengo, 25
M ’ 9
mgafe 2 Stl | 20143 Milan, Italy 100%
. i Via S.G. Cottolengo. 25 .
i a,
Mile Srl 20143 Mitan. Italy [00%
Muntazeh English School SPC (Park House | Bou Hamour 56, Mesaimeer Street, building number 43,
L 100%
English School) , Doha, Qatar
T N " rn N
Ouks International School Limited IQO New Bridge Street, Londen, EC4V 6JA, United 100%
| Kingdom
Permotio Consultancy DWC Dubai Branch ‘ PO Box 54084, Dubai, UAE 100%
| Permotio Consultancy DWC LLC | PO Box 54084, Dubai, UAE 100%
PIL (Dubai) SPC | Lid ** | PO Box 54084, Dubai, UAE 0%
PIL Brazil Holdings 2 Limited | IQO New Bridge Street. London, EC4V 6JA. United 100%
~ Kingdom
PI\, Europe Holdings Limited* ; IQO New Bridge Street, London, EC4V 6JA, United 100%
. | Kingdom
| - " ; —
PIL Mexico Holdings | Limited* : IQO New Bridge Street. London, EC4V 6JA, United 100%
- | Kingdom
PIL Mexico Holdings 2 Limited | IQO New Bridge Street. London. EC4V 6JA. United 100%
Kingdom
| Boulevard Migue! Cervantes Saavedra 169, piso 2,
PIl. Mexico SL (formerly Pictos S.A.P.[ de | Colonia Granda, Alcaldia Miguel Hidalgo C.P. 11520, 100%
Cvy | Mexico City (Registro Publico de la Propiedad v de ¢
| | Comercio de la Ciudad de México)
T - T -
PIL Middle East Holdings Limited* i 100 New Bridge Street. London, EC4V 6JA, United 100%
: Kingdom
PIL UK itoldings | Limitcd* | IQO New Bridge Street, London, EC4V 6JA, United 100%
. Kingdom
PIL UK Holdings 2 Limited i 1(!0 New Bridge Street. London, EC4V 6)A, United 100%
i Kingdom
P - : — : )
i Ejéngrvmr Management Consultancy Banivas East, PO Box 12986, Abu Dhabi, UAE 49%
Each British School LLC ** Baniyas East, PO Box 12986, Abu Dhabi, UAE 49%
: . 3867 Plaza Tower Drive, Baton
Riv ; 1.C ’ 29 : °
iver Forest Partners [.1.C Rouge, Louisiana 70816 95%
.. . 3000 Wachovia Financial Center, 200 South Biscayne
R . . . q
—I\ncra Preparatory School Holdings, LLC Bivd. Miami. FL 33131, USA 100%
| Rodriguez y Maulén Educacional SpA Rodriguez y Maulén Educacional SpA Santiago. Chile 100%
Rowntree Montessori Shools Inc 3 Sunforest Drive. Brampton. Ontario 167 272 100%
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NOTE 25 — SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

SG Straits International Education Group

Level 13A-6, Mcnara Milecnium, Jalan Damanlela. Pusat

y Bandar Damansara. 50490, Kuala Lumpur, Wilayah 100%

Sdn. Bhd. !
Persekutuan, Malaysia

Star International School LLLC Al Twar Schoel, 7th Street, Al Twar 2, Dubai, UAE 80%
2462 ResCowork(1, 24th Floor, Al Sila Tower, Abu Dhabi

Star Schools Holding Limited (ilohal Market Square, Al Maryah lsland, Abu Dhabi, 80%
United Arab Emirates

$t. Mary’s Edumangement Services Private The F,xetlzutfve Center, Level 7, _()cta\c:e 3B. _

Limited Salarpuria Sattva Knowl.cdgc City, Hitech City, PO Box 75%
500081, Hyderabad, [ndia
The Executive Center, Level 7, Octave 3 B,

St. Mary’s Society*** Salarpuria Sauva Knowledge City, Hitech City. PO Box 0%
500081. Hyderabad. India

. . . Level 13A-6, Menara Milenium, Jalan Damanlela. Pusat

Straits lnternational Education Group Sdn. Bandar Damansara, 50490, Kuala Lumpur, Wilayah 100%

Bhd. .
Persckutuan, Malaysia

Temple Cambridge Limited I’QO New Bridge Street, London, EC4V 6JA, United 100%
Kingdom
Level 13A-6, Menara Milenium, Jalan. Damanlela, Pusat

Tenby Aman Sdn. Bhd. Bandar Damansara, 50490. Kuala Lumpur, Wilayah 100%
Persckutuan, Malavsia.
Level 13A-6, Menara Milenium, Jalan, Damanlela, Pusat

Tenby Ecohilt Sdn. Bhd. Bandar Damansara. 50490, Kuala Lumpur, Wilayah 100%
Persekutuan, Malaysia.
Level 13-A-6. Menara Milenium. Jalan, Damanlela, Pusat

Tenby kducare SDN. BHD. Bandar Damansara, 50490, Kuala Lumpur, Wilayah 100%
Persekutuan, Malavsia.
[.evel 13A-6, Menara Milenium, Jalan, Damanlela, Pusat

Tenby Education Sdn. Bhd. ** Bandar Damansara, 50490, Kuala Lumpur, Wilayah 0%
Persekutuan, Malaysia.
Unit Level 13{A), Main Office Tower, Financial Park

Tenby Labuan Foundation** Labuan, Jalan Merdeka, 87000, Federal Territory of 0%
[.abuan, Malaysia.
Level 13A-6, Mcnara Milentum, Jalan Damanlela, Pusat

Tenby Rawang Sdn. Bhd. Bandar Damansara. 50490, Kuala L.umpur, Wilayah 100%
Persckutuan, Malaysia.
Level 13A-6, Mcnara Milenium, falan Damanlela, Pusat

Tenby Southern Sdn. Bhd. Bandar Damansara, 50490, Kuala Lumpur, Wilayzh 100%
Persekutuan, Malavsia.
Level 13A-6, Menara Milenium, Jalan Damanlela. Pusat

Tenby World Sdn. Bhd. Bandar Damansara, 50490, Kuala Lumpur, Wilayah 100%
Persekutuan, Malaysia,

The Aquila School Owned by Shaikh

Mohammed Maktoum Juma Al Maktwoum PO Box 26540, Dubai. UATL. 0%

One Person Company [LLC (Aquila)**

T'he Hamilton International School LLEC** Mcsaimeer 36 - street number 1117, building number 117, 49%
Doha. Qatar.
Manuel Payno No 40, Ciudad Satélite, Municipio de

Thomas Jefferson Zena Esmeralda [JZE. Naucalpan de Juarez, C.P. 53100, State ol Mexico 100%

5.C

(Instituto de la Funcion Registral del Estado de México.
Oficina Tlalnepantla)
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NOTE 25 —~ SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Costa Rica. San Jose, Santa Ana,

Tienda Cincuenta Aniversario, S.A. Poros. one and a half kilometers west from Banco 100%
DAVIVIENDA.
Torpequil Inmobiliaria Torpimob S.A. La Moderna Street, plot 3-1, Samborondon - Ecuador 100%

#712, Belvedere Building. 28A Trin Hung Prao. Phan Chu

0,
Trinh ward. Hoan Kiem District. Hanoi city, Vietnam 100%

VietEd Vision Joint Stock Company

e . 72135 Millereck Drive, Mississauga. Ontario, o
Young Explorers Educational Services Inc. Canada. LSN 3R3 100%

* These entities are dircct subsidiaries of the Company; all others are indirectly held,

**Although the Company owns indirectly less than half of the shares of these entities, management has determined that
the Company indirectly controls them. This is by virtue of agreement with the companies” other sharecholders whereby the
Company exercises management control over the entities.

***The Group does not own equity interest in the company but controls and operates the company through contractual
arrangements.

The Company has provided guarantecs for ongoing support to Colegios Laude SA, Tenby Educare Sdn. Bhd, Tenby
Education Sdn. Bhd, Al Nibras International Private School LLC, Aspen teights British School LLC, Muntazeh English
School SPC, Reach British School LLC, Star International School LLC, The Aquila School Owned by Shaikh Mohammed
Maktoum Juma Al Makteum Onc Person Company LL.C, and The Hamilton International School LLC in respect to their
continuation s g going concern.

NOTE 26 - ULTIMATE PARENT COMPANY

The ultimate parent company is International Schools Partnership 1 S.ar.l, a company incorporated and registered in
Luxembourg. The immediate controlling party is Permotio International Learning S.a.r.l. a company incerperated and
registered in Luxembourg.

This is the smallest and largest entity to consolidate the results of the company.

The ultimate controlling party is Partners Group Access 188 PF LLP. a partnership registered and designated in Scotland.

NOTE 27 - REMUNERATION OF KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL

During the 2022 financial vear, the Group paid €1.560,514 (20621: €1.607,437) to its key management personnel. Key
management personnel are assesscd as dircctors of the Company. The highest paid direclor received remuneration of
€598.731 (2021: €1,035,789). The Group implemented a pension scheme for key management personnel in July 2017,
During the 2022 financial year each management personnel received €nil (2021: €nil) of pension benefit.

Management incentive plan

In July 2021, a management incentive plan (“MIP™) was introduced whereby certain executive management purchased
Class A ordinary shares in International Schools Partnership [ S.a.r.1 (“ISP Sarl™) through Mourant Corporatc Trustee
(Jersey) Limited, the trustee. for their fair market value at the grant date.

A valuation of the market value of the shares issued was performed by an independent third parly on the issue date. The

shares will only deliver a return on a future exit event of the company, therefore the fair value was derived using the Monte
Carlo based option pricing model.
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NOTE 27 - REMUNERATION OF KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL (continued)

The following assumptions were applied in determining the fair value of the sharcs issued:

July 2021
Risk Iree rate ol return based on the 5 year yield of a European guilt 0.0%
Future volatility rate 30.0% to 35.0%
Market value of each share issucd €123
Expected term to exit event (vesting period) 6.0 to 8.0 years

Further Class A ordinary shares in 1SP Sarl were purchased in February 2022 and May 2022 by new executive management
team members. The directors determined that the original valuation carried out in July 2021 was still valid for determining
the market value of these shares issued.

The MIP is an equity settled share-based pavment scheme. The total amount of employee benefit expense recognised in
the statement of prolit or loss for the year in respect of the MIP was €1,000,000 (2021: €nil).

NOTE 28 - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Amounts outstanding at the vear end were as follows:

Trading balances with related parties

31 August 31 August
(in €000's) 2022 2021
Trading balance with parent company 3,231 3,078
Trading balances with other related parties 1.777 -
Total 5,008 3,078
Transactions during the year were:
Transactions with related parties
31 August 31 August
{in €000s) 2022 2021
Administrative expenses
Trading balances with other related partics 1.928 -
Total 1,928 -
Balances with parent company arc amounts held with Permotio International Learning S.a.rl, the immediate parent

company of the Company.

Balances and transactions with other related parties relate to rent and service charges incurred through service agreements
with the other shareholders of subsidiaries where the Group owns less than half ol the shares in the entities.

NOTE 29 - CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

To our knowledge there are no contingent liabilitics. We have fully provided for material taxes and associated taxes, but
not related interest and fines,

64



Consolidaled ftnancial statements
International Schools Partnership Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

NOTE 30 - ACQUISITIONS

Acquisitions have been consolidated using the purchase method of accounting with goodwill being recognised as an assct.
The acquisitions have been included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that the control was obtained
by the Group. Acquisitions are performed 10 strengthen and widen the presence of the Group. Unless otherwise stated,
control ts gained through the purchase of the share capital of the company. Details of the acquisitions and disposals along
with adjustments to the valuation of goodwill recognised are detailed below. Acquisition costs are recognised in the
statcment of comprehensive income (loss) in other costs.

Business combinations between | September 2021 and 31 August 2022

Ecole Mosaic
On 1 September 2621, PIL Europe Holdings Limited (UK resident). a 100% owned subsidiary of Intemational Schools
Partnership Limited (UK resident), acquired 100% of the share capital of Ecole Mosaic SA (Swiss resident}.

The goodwill on acquisition was calculated as follows:

€000°s*
Consideration** 10,134
langible assets 902
Right-of-use asset 3378
Current assets 413
Cash 177
Current Liabilities (1,340)
Lcase liability (3,378)
Deferred tax liabilities {296}
Net assets altributable to owner (644)
Intangible asset recognised on acquisition relating to the student registry 2.112
Goodwill 8.666

*Converted using a foreign exchange rate of 1.076 CHF/€.

**Consideration on acquisition was cash of CHF 9,329.000 and deferred consideration of CHF 1,576,000. Deferred
consideration actyally paid out subsequent to year end was €1,187,000 (CHF 1,111,000), which was based on the amount
as per the purchase agreement less any agreed finalisation adjustments.

The goodwill is atiributable mainly to the synergies and opportunities that the Group will bring to the school through
direct investment and improved learning.

The carrying valuc of trade receivables at the acquisition date was €187,000. The gross contractual receivable was
€242,000. The provision for contractual cash flows not expected to be collected was €35,000. Carryving value of trade

receivables i3 deemed a reasonable approximation of fair value.

CGU perlormance and acquisition costs:

(in €000’s) ***Post-acquisition Year ended 31 August 2022
Revenue 6,468 6.468
Profit 265 265
Acquisition costs 1 1

**¥Post-acquisilion refers o the following period: date of acquisition to 31 August 2022.
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NOTE 30 — ACQUISITIONS (continued)

Riviera Preparatory and Day Schools

On 29 Scptember 2021, ISP US Heldings Inc. (US resident), a 100% owned subsidiary of ISP North America Limited
(UK resident), which is a 100% owned subsidiary of International Schools Partnership Limited (UK resident), acquired
100% of the share capital of Riviera Preparatory School Holdings LLC and Laro CG LLC (US residents).

The goodwill on acquisition was caleulated as tollows:

Consideration**

Tangible assets
Current assets

Cash

Current liabilities
Long term liabilities

Net assets attributable o owner

Intangible asset recognised on acquisition relating to the student registry

Goodwill

*Converted using a foreign exchange rate of 1.166 USD/E.
**Consideration on acquisition was cash of USD 125,555,000 and deferred consideration of USD 3,000,000,

€000°s™
110.234

38.229
2,711
4,240

(3,297

(27.205)

14,678
18.299
77,257

The goodwill is attributable mainly to the synergies and opportunities that the Group will bring to the school through

direct investment and improved learning.

The carrying value of trade receivables ai the acquisition date was €2,264,000. The gross contractual receivable was
€2.483.000. The provision for contractual cash flows not expected 1o be collected was €219.000, Carrying value of trade
receivables is decmed a reasonable approximation of fair value.

CGU performance and acquisition costs:
{in €000’s)
Revenue
Profit

Acquisition costs

**¥Post-acquisition refers to the following period:

***Post-acquisition
23,175

8,702

276

date of acquisition to 31 August 2022,

Year ended 31 August 2022
25,691

9.966

8.694
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Straits International Education Group

On 13 October 2021, Tenby Educare Sdn Bhd (Malaysia resident), a 100% owned subsidiary ol [SP Malaysia Ltd (UK
resident), which is a 100% owned subsidiary of International Schools Partnership Limited (UK resident), acquired 100%
of the share capital of Straits International Education Group Sdn Bhd, which itself holds 100% of the share capital of KK
Straits International Education Group Sdn Bhd and SG Straits International Education Group Sdn (Malaysia residents).

The goodwill on acquisition was caleulated as foHows:

€000’ s*
Consideration** 8.717
Tangible assets 1,928
Right-of-usc asset 19.176
Current asscts 851
Cash 272
Current liabilities (2.984)
Leasc liability {19.176)
Deferred tax liabilities (272}
Long term liabilities (631)
Net assets attributable to owner (836)
Intangible asset recogniscd on acquisition relating to the student registry 1,132
Goodwill 8.421

*Converted using a forcign exchange rate o’ 4.762 MYR/E.
**Consideration on acquisition was cash of MYR 41,508,000. There was no deferred or contingent consideration.

The goodwill is attributable mainly to the synergies and opportunities that the Group will bring to the schoel through
direct investment and improved learning.

The carTying value of trade receivables at the acquisition date was €nil. The gross contractual reccivable was €10.000.
The provision for contractual cash flows not expecied to be collected was €10.000. Carrying value of trade receivables is

deemed a reasonable approximation of fair value.

CGU performance and acquisition costs:

(in €000°s) wkkPost-acquisition Year ended 31 August 2022
Revenue 4,185 4,545
(Loss) (1,077) (1,087)
Acquisition costs (5} (5)

***Post-acquisition refers to the following period: date of acquisition to 31 August 2022,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
NOTE 30 — ACQUISITIONS (continued)

St. Mary’s School
On 18 January 2022, ISP India Ltd (UK resident), a 100% owned subsidiary of International Schools Partnership Limited
(UK resident), acquired 75% of the share capital of S1. Mary’s Edemanagement Services Private Limited (India resident).

The Group has elected to measure the non-controlling interest in the acquiree at the proportionate share of its interest in
the acquirce’s identifiable net assets.

The goodwill on acquisition was calculated as follows:

€000°s*
Consideration** 17,171
Tangible assets 2,172
Right-ot-usc asset 20,575
Current assets 703
Cash 37
Current liabilities {2,203)
[.ease liability (20,573)
Deferred tax liabilities (1,571)
Long term liabiljties (185)
Net assets attributable to owner (1,047)
Intangible asset recognised on acquisition relating to the student registry 5,237
Non-controlling interest I § % 4]
Goodwill 14,421

*Converled using a foreign cxchange rate of 84.746 INR/E.
**(Consideration on acquisition was cash of INR 1,300,000,000 plus contingent consideration of INR 155,188,000,

The goodwill is attributable mainly to the synergies and opportunities that the Group will bring to the school through
direct investment and improved learning.

The carrying value of trade receivables at the acquisition date was €nil. The gross contractual receivable was €51,000.
The provision for contractual cash {lows not expected to be collected was €51,000. Carrying value of trade receivables is

deemed a rcasonable approximation of fair value.

CGU performance and acquisition costs:

{in €000’s) *%*Post-acquisition Year ended 31 August 2022
Revenue 4 481 7.221
Profit 597 1,716
Acquisition costs 625 650

**#*Post-acquisition refers to the lollowing period: date of acquisition to 31 August 2022,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
NOTE 36 - ACQUISITIONS (continued)

St. Mary's School (continued)

Contingent consideration

Acquisition consideration agreed with the former owner includes a contingent portion based on the aggregate amount of
FY23 equity value (12 months) exceeding the original cash consideration of INR 1,500,000.000, where the FY23 equity
value (12 months) is equal to a multiple of' 10 muliiplied by the EBITIA for the 12 months ended on 31 March 2023.

As al the acquisition date, the fair value of the contingent consideration was estimated to be INR 155,188,000, computed
based on the ERITDA forccast for the period | Aprit 2022 to 31 March 2023.

Colegio Terranova

On 22 February 2022, ISP Ecuador Limited (UK resident) and ISP Chile Lid (UK resident), each a 100% owned subsidiary
of [nternational Schools Partnership Limited (UK resident), acquired 100% of the share capital of Compania Scolasticomp
C. Ltda {Ecuador resident).

The goodwill on acquisition was calculated as follows:

€000°s*
Consideration** 21,547
Tangiblc assets 13.671
Deferred tax asset 45
Current assets 1,632
Cash 552
Current liabilities (4.128)
Net asscts attributable to owner 11,772
Goodwill 9.775

*Converted using a foreign exchange rate ol 1.095 USD/E,
**Consideration on acquisition was cash of USD 23,585.000. There was no deferred or contingent consideration.

The goodwill is attributable mainly to the synergics and opportunities that the Group will bring to the school through
direct investment and improved kearning.

The carrying value of trade rcceivables at the acquisition date was €425,000. The gross contractual receivable was
€765,000. The provision for contractual cash flows not expected to be collected was €340,000. Carrying value of trade

rcceivables 1s deemed a reasonable approximation of fair value.

CGU performance and acquisition costs:

(in €000’s) ***Post-gequisition Year ended 31 August 2022
Revenue 2,510 8,057
Proful 63 2.507
Acquisilion costs 144 404

***Post-acquisition refers to the following period: date of acquisition to 31 August 2022,
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NOTE 30 - ACQUISITIONS (continued)

Star International School

On 29 July 2022, PIL Middle East Holdings Ltd (UK resident), a 100% owned subsidiary of International Schools
Partnership Limited (UK resident), acquired 80% of the share capital of Star Schools Iolding Limited {Abu Dhabi
resident) which itself holds 100% of the share capital of Star International School LL.C (Dubai resident).

The Group has elected to measure the non-controlling interest in the acquiree at the proportionate share of its interest in
the acquiree’s identifiablc nct asscis.

The goodwill on acquisition was calculated as follows:

€000’ s*
Consideration** 15,693
Tangible assets 19,118
Right-of-use asset 46,997
Current assets 1.505
Cash 406
Current liabilitics (10,433)
Lease liability {15.316)
Long term liabilities (31.297)
Net asscts attributable to owner 10.980
Intangible asset recognised on acquisition relating to the student registry 9,574
Non-controlling interest {4.111)
Bargain purchase {(750)

*Converted using a foreign exchange rate of 3.831 AED/€E.
**Consideration on acquisition was cash off AED 48,403,000 plus deferred consideration of AED 2.867.000 and
contingent consideration of AED 8.846.004).

The Group measured the acquired lease liabilitics using the present value of the remaining lease payments at the date of
acquisition. The right-of-use assets were measured at an amount equal to the lease liabilities and adjusted to reflcet the
favourable terms of the lease.

The acquisition has resulted in a bargain purchase duc to the favourable terms of the lease. The gain on purchase has been
recorded in the statement of profit and loss.

The carrying value of trade receivables at the acquisition date was €800,000. The gross contractual receivable was
€976.000. The provision for contractual cash flows not expected 1o be collected was €176,000. Carrying value of trade
receivables is deemed & reasonable approximation of fair value,

If new inlormation obtained within one year of the date of acquisition about facts and circumstances that existed at the

date of acquisition identilies adjustments to the above amounts, or any additional provisions that existed at the date of
acquisition, then the accounting for the acquisition will be revised.
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NOTE 30 — ACQUISITIONS (continued)
Star International School (continued)

CGU performance and acquisition costs:

{in €000’s) ***Post-acquisition Year ended 31 August 2022
Revenuc 32 12897
(Loss) (1.002) (4.664)
Acquisition costs 33 275

***Post-acquisition relers to the following period: date of acquisition to 31 August 2022,

Contingent consideration

Acquisition consideration agreced with the former owner includes an earn out payment of AED 8,846,000 which is
contingent on Star [nternational Group mecting a target average EBITDA ol AED 23,969,631 during the period from
completion date until 30 June 2026. Management have assessed the probability of meeting this target as [00% based on
the budgeted average EBITDA results of the school for that same period exceeding the target average EBITDA above.
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NOTE 30 — ACQUISITIONS (continued)
Business combinations between 1 September 2020 and 31 August 2021
Rowntree Montessori School
On 3 December 2020, ISP Rowntree Inc. (Canada resident) a 100% owned subsidiary of International Schools Partnership

Limited (UK resident), acquired 100% of the share capital of Rowntree Montessori Schools Inc. and 4039459 Canada Lid
(Canada residents).

The goodwill on acquisition was calculated as follows:

€000’ s*
Consideration** 13.010
Tangible assets 4,362
Right-of-use asset 183
Current assets 45
Cash 2.369
Current Liabilities (3.470)
Lease liability (183)
Deferred tax liabilities (1.911)
Net assets attributable to owner 1,395
Intangible asset recognised on acquisition relating to the student registry 4,085
Goodwill 7.530

*Converted using a foreign exchanpe rate of 1.566 CAD/E.
**Consideration on acquisition was cash of CAD 20,378.000. There was no deferred or contingent consideration,

The goodwill is attributable mainly 1o the synergies and opportunities that the Group will bring to the school through
direct investment and improved leaming.

The carrying value of trade receivables at the acquisition date was €5,300. The gross contractual receivable was €5.300.
The provision for contractual cash flows not expected 10 be collected was nil. Carrying value of trade receivables is deemed

a rcasonable approximation of fair value.

CGU performance and acquisition costs:

(in €000s) ***Pgst-acquisition Year ended 31 August 2021
Revenue 2,925 4116
(Loss) / Profit (78} 424
Acquisition costs 285 293

***Post-acquisition refers to the ollowing period: date of acquisition to 31 August 2021,
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NOTE 30 — ACQUISITIONS (continued)

Lynn-Rose Schools

On | December 2020, ISP Lynn-Rose Inc. (Canada resident) a 100% owned subsidiary of Intcrnational Schools
Partnership Limited (UK resident}). acquired 100% ol the share capital of [.ynn-Rose Corp, Lynn Rose College Inc. and
Young Explorers Educational Services Inc. together "Lynn-Rose Schools”™ (Canada residents).

The goodwill on acquisition was calculated as follows:

€000°s*
Consideration** 8,417
Tangible assets 9.192
Right-of-use assct 572
Current assets 1,338
Cash 1,510
Current Liabilities (7.171)
Lease lability (572)
Deferred tax liabilities (1.594)
Long term liabilitics (4)
Nect assets attributable to owner 3,271
Intangible asset recognised on acquisition relating to the student registry 2,900
Goodwill 2,246

*Converted using a foreign exchange rate of 1.554 CAD/E.
**Consideration on acquisition was cash of CAD 13.083.000. There was no delerred or contingent consideration.

The goodwill is attributable mainiy to the synergies and opportunities that the Group will bring to the school through
direct investment and improved learning,

The carrying value of trade receivables at the acquisition date was €1,265,000. The gross contractual receivable was
€1.488.000. The provision for contractual ¢cash flows not expected to be collected was €223.000. Carrying value of trade

receivables is deemed a reasonable approximation of fair value,

CGU performance and acquisition costs:

(in €000's) e Post-acquisition Year ended 31 August 2021
Revenue 3.030 4.175
Protit 109 429
Acquisition costs 208 224

**¥*Post-acquisition refers to the following period: date of acquisition to 31 August 2021.
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NOTE 30 — ACQUISITIONS (continued)

Mile Bilingual School

On 6 April 2021 PIL Europe Holdings Limited (UK residenty a 100% owned subsidiary of International Schools
Partnership Limited (UK resident), acquired 100% of the share capital of Magafe 2 Srl (taly Resident) and Mile Srl (Haly
Resident).

The goodwill on zequisition was caluulaled as follows:

€000°s
Consideration* 14,503
Tangible assets 450
Right-of-use asset 2,147
Current asscts 953
Cash 1,491
Current Liabilities (2.419)
Long term liabilities (649)
[.ease lability {2,147)
Deterred tax liabilities {1,283)
Net assets atiributable to owner (1,457)
Intangible assct recognised on acquisition relating to the student registry 4 750
Goodwill 11,210

*Consideration on acquisition was cash of €12,271,000, and contingent consideration of €2,232.000. Contingent
consideration actually paid out post-acquisition was €1,066,000, which was based on the final trade debtors’ position and
student enrolments,

The goodwill is attributable mainly to the synergics and opportunities that the Group will bring 10 the school through
direct investment and improved learning.

The carrying value of trade receivables at the acquisition date was €824,000. The gross contractual receivable was
€824.000. The provision for contractual cash flows not expected to be collected was nil. Carrying value of trade receivables

is deemed a reasonable approximation of tair value.

CGU performance and acquisition costs:

{in €000’s) **%Post-acquisition Year ended 31 August 2021
Revenue 5,047 7,688
Profit 468 822
Acquisition costs 488 488

***Post-acquisition refers to the following period: date of acquisition to 31 August 2021.
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NOTE 30 - ACQUISITIONS (continued)

British School of Geneva

On 19 April 2021 Pil. Europc Holdings Limited (UK resident) a 100% owned subsidiary of International Schools
Partnership Limited (UK resideat), acquired 100% of the share capital of Ark Holdings SA (Switzerland Resident) and
ASC International House SA (Switzerland Resident).

The goodwill on acquisition was caleulated as follows:

€000 s>
Consideration** 12,078
Tangible assets 370
Right-of-use asset 5.949
Current assets 1,857
Cash 1.356
Current liabilities {4.560)
Lease liability (5.949)
Deferred tax liabilities {372)
Long term liabilities (5,127)
Net assets attributable 10 owner (6.682)
Intangible assel recognised on acquisition relating to the student registry 4,083
Goodwill 14,677

*Converted using a foreign exchange rate of 1.1027 CHIF/E,

**Consideration on acquisition was cash of CIHF 11.928,000 and CHF 1.390.000 of decferred consideration. Deferred
consideration actually paid out subsequent to ycar end was CHF 1.240.000 (€1.280,000). which was based on the amount
per the purchase agreement adjusted for final working capital and debt adjustments.

The goodwill is attributable mainly to the synergies and opportunities that the Group will bring to the school through
direct investment and improved lecarning.

The carrying value of trade receivables at the acquisition date was €1.254,000. The gross contractual receivable was
€1.344.000. The provision for contractual cash flows not expected to be collected was €90,000. Carrying value of trade

receivables is deemed a reasonable approximation of fair value.

CGU performance and acquisition costs:

{in €0060’s) ***Post-acquisition Year ended 31 August 2021
Revenue 1.285 5,087
(Loss) / Profit (700} 424
Acquisition costs 390 390

***Past-acquisition refers to the following period: date of acquisition to 31 August 2021.
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NOTE 30 — ACQUISITIONS (continued)

Colegio British Royal School

On 27 August 2021 21 [SP Chile SPA (Chile resident), a 100% owned subsidiary of PIL Brazil Holdings 2 I.imited (UK
Resident), a 100% owned subsidiary of ISP Chile Limited (UK Resident). a 100% owned subsidiary of International
Schools Partnership Limited (UK Resident), acquired 100% of the share capital of Colegio British Royal School SpA
{Chile Resident).

The goodwill on acquisition was calculated as follows:

€000°s*
Consideration™* 28.890
F'angible assels 483
Current assets 291
Cash 98
Current Liabilitics (4,787)
Dcferred tax liabilities (2,948)
Net assets attributable to owner (6.863)
Intangible asset recognised on acquisition rclating to the student registry 10,920
Goodwill 24.833

*Converied using a foreign exchange rate o 8713 CLP/E.
**+(onsideration on acquisition was cash of CLP 24.657.406,000. Additional consideration of CLP 514,900,000 was paid
in April 2022 for final working capital and debt adjustments.

The goodwill is attributable mainly to the syncrgies and opportunities that the Group will bring to the school through
direct investment and improved learning.

The carrying value ol trade receivables at the acquisition date was €220,000. The gross contractual reccivable was
€350,000. I'he provision for contractual cash flows not expected to be collected was €130,000. Carrying value of trade

receivables is deemed a reasonable approximation of fair value.

CGU performance and acquisition costs:

(in €000’s) ***Post-acquisition Year ended 31 August 2021
Revenue - 8.240
Profit - 3,073
Acquisition cosls - 195

***Post-acquisition refers 1o the following period: date of acquisition to 31 August 2021.
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NOTE 31 - EVENTS AFTER THE DATE OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Acquisitions/subsidiaries
On 27 October 2022, ISP Poland Limited (UK resident) was incorporated as a 100% owned subsidiary of International
Schools Partnership Limited (UK resident).

On 30 November 2022, ISP Portugal S.A. (Portugal resident) was incorporated as a 100% owned subsidiary of PIL Europe
Holdings Limited (UK resident). a 100% owned subsidiary of International Schools Partnership Limited (UK resident),

On 14 December 2022, Smaerocity Eduserve Private Limited (India resident) was incorporated as a 75% owncd subsidiary
of ISP India Limited (UK resident), a 100% owned subsidiary of International Schools Partnership Limited (UK resident).

On 8 September 2022, PIL Mexico SL {Mexico entity), a 100% owned subsidiary of PIL. Mexico Holdings 1 Limited
(Mexico entity), which is a 100% owncd subsidiary of Intemational Schools Partnership Limited (UK resident), acquired
the remaining 10% non-controlling interest in Formacion, Educacién Y Culiura, S$.C. taking the Group’s ownership in the
company to 100%. Consideration paid was €5.314,000.

Cn 12 October 2022, ISP North America Limited (UK resident}., a 100% owned subsidiary of International Schools
Partnership Limited (UK resident}, acquired 90% of the share capital of Boston School S.A. (Panama resident). The
company was purchased for USD 13,546,000.

On 30 November 2022, Magafe 2 Srl (Italy resident), a 100% owned subsidiary of PIL. Europe Holdings Limited (UK
resident), which is a 100% owned subsidiary of International Schools Partnership Limited (UK resident), acquired 100%
of the share capital of Centro Studi Superiori S.r.1. (Italy resident). The company was purchased for €33.000,000,

On 17 December 2022, 1SP India Limited (UK resident), a 100% owned subsidiary of International Schools Partnership
Limited (UK resident), acquired 100% of the share capital of Manthan Educational Solutions Private Limited (India
resident). The company was purchased for INR 3.061.600,000.

On 23 December 2022, ISP Poland Limited (UK resident), a 100% owned subsidiary of International Schools Partnership
Limited (UK resident), acquired 90% of the share capital of British Primary School of Wilanow sp.o.o and British Nursery
of Wilanow sp.z.0.0 {Poland residents). The company was purchased for PLLN 88,155,248

On 16 February 2023, Magafc 2 Srl (laly rcsident), a 100% owned subsidiary of PIL Europe Heldings Limited (UK
resident), which is a 100% owned subsidiary of International Schools Partnership Limited (UK resident), acquired 100%
of the share capital of Centro Studi Alexandria $.r.1. (Italy resident). The company was purchased for €6,571,000.

The accounting for each of thesc acquisitions has not been finalised to show the calculation of the goodwill on acquisition.

Borrowings

There has been a total draw down of €286,600,000 from the acquisition facility to facilitate the post ycar end acquisitions.
The drawdowns occurred on 30 September 2022 for €81,100,000, 26 October 2022 for €15,800,000, and 18 November
2022 for €189,700,000.

‘Lhe €50,000,000 drawn on the Revolving Credit Facility at year end was repaid in full on 17 October 2022,
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Internationat Schoels Partnership Limited (Registered Number: 09817502}

Company Statement of Financial Position

as at 31 August 2022

Fixed assets

Investments

Debtors: amounts falling due after
more than one year

Current assets:

Debtars: amounts falling duc in less than one
year

Cash at bank and in hand

Creditors: Amounts falling due within onc year
Net current (liabilities) / assets

Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than
one year

Provisions

Net assets

Capital and reserves
Called up share capital
Share premium account
Capital contribution rescrve
Fair value reserve

Profit or loss account

Shareholders’ funds

Note

i0
10
11
L1
11

31 August 2022

27,913

64,449

81,349

Fhe notes on pages 80 10 91 form part of these financial statements.

€000°s

963,923

199,672

36,536

{16,900)

(797,825)
(5,517)

343,353

14
394,477
79,931
19,726

(150,795)
343,353

31 August 2021
€000’s

708,318

150,087

53,560

178,003

231,563

(32,789

198.774

(745,019)

14
464,477
79,931

(232,262)

312.160

As permitted by s408 Companies Act 2006, the company has not presented its own profit or loss account and related notes,
as {1 prepares group accounts. The company's total comprehensive loss for the period was €(82.420,000) (2021:

€(79,204,000}.

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board and were signed on its behalf on 27 [February

2023.

"vk'l o

D Mee
Director
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International Schools Partnership Limited (Registered Number: 09817502)

At 31 August 2020
Equity transactions
during the year
I.oss for the year
At 31 August 2021
Equity transactions
during the vear
Loss for the year

Other comprehensive
income for the vear

At 31 August 2022

Company statement of changes in equity
from 1 September 2021 to 31 August 2022

Called up
share capital

€000’

12

=

=

Share
premium
account

€000's

2,936

454,541

(70,000)

394477

Capital
contribution
reserve

€000°s

79,931

The notes on pages 80 to 91 form part of these financial statements.

Fair value
reserve
€000°s

19,726

12726

Profit or
loss aceount

€00)’s

(153,058)

(79,204)

(232,262)

163,887

(82,420)

(150,795}

Total
€000°s

(143,120

534,484

(79,204)

312,160

93,887
(82,420)

19,726
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International Schools Partnership Limited (Registered Number: 09817502)

Notes to the Company financial statements

1. Accounting Policies

1.1

Basis of preparation of financial statements

International Schools Partnership Limited (the “Company™) is a private company limited by shares
incorporated, domiciled and registered in England in the UK. The registered number is 09817302
and the registered address is 100 New Bridge Street, London. United Kingdom. EC4V 6JA.

The group financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Accounting
Standards 1in conformity wilh ihe vompanics Act 2006 ("IFRS™). The Company has elected to
prepare its parent company financial statements in accordance with FRS 101 {Reduced Disclosure
Framework); these arc presented on pages 80 to 91. The financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention modified to include the fair value measurement of derivative
financial instruments.

On publishing the parent company financial statements here together with the Group financial
statements, the Company is taking advantage of the exemption in s408 of the Companics Act 2006
not to present its individual income statement and related notes that form a part of these approved
financial statements.

The Company has taken advantage of the following disclosure exemptions as permitted by FRS101:
® The Company has not prepared a cash flow statement and related notes
o Certain disclosures required by IFRS 13 Fuir Value Measurement and the disclosures required
by IFRS 7 Financial Instrument Disclosures.
® Disclosures in respect of transactions with wholly owned subsidiaries
® Disclosures of transactions with a management entity that provides key management
personnel services to the Company

The financial statements are prescnted in Euro (€). The Company s financial statements are rounded
to the nearest thousand Euro (€000°s™).

1.2 Investment policy
Investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less impairment to date.

1.3 Income taxes
Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the reporting date at the amount cxpected
to be recovered from or paid to taxation authorities using the tax rales and laws that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the consolidated statement of financial position date. Certain
subsidiaries arc subject to foreign taxes in respect to their net income and capital gains in their
country of operation.
Current tax is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in correlation to the
underlying transaction outside of profit or loss.

2. Directors' remuneration

No director received remuncration. retirement or other benefits from the Company during either the current
or prior year. Due to the nature of operations of the Group, the remuncration of the Directors for their
services to International Schools Partnership Limited is not contained in the records of the Company. The
directors arc remunerated for their services to the group, which is disclosed in note 27 of the consolidated
financial statcments. Their services to this entity are minimal and a trivial amount of their remuneration is
attributable to this entity.
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International Schools Partnership Limited (Registered Number: 09817502)

Notes to the Company financial statements (continued)

3. Investments

Company cost

At 31 August 2020

Acquired 1n pertod
Impairment

At 31 August 2021

Acquired in period
Impairment

At 3] August 2022

Shares in group
undertakings

€000's

—288,532

419,796

— 708,318

255,605

—963,923

The Group consists of a parent company. International Schools Partnership Limited. incorporated in United
Kingdom and several subsidiaries held dircctly and indirectly by International Schools Parmership Limited.

The ownership is the same in current and previous year, except for subsidiaries purchased in the year, please see
Note 30 of the group financial statements for further details.

The group has also merged the following subsidiaries, Elementary School Thomas Jefferson, 8.C., Kindergarden
Thomas Jeflerson. S.C. and Pink & Blue, S.C. following the transfer of their trade and assets to High School
l'homas Jefterson. §.C. and Kindergarden Thomas Jefferson Company Guadalajara, S5.C. following the transter of
its trade and assets to Instituto Thomas Jefferson Campus Guadalajara S.C.

At 31 August 2022 the Company had interests in the ordinary shares in the following subsidiaries:

Wilayah Persekutuan, Malaysia.

Percentage
ownership
Company name Registered address of
ordinary
shares
—— 1785 Queen Street East, Unit J. Bramplon, Ontario, o
4039459 Canada [.1d Canada L6 1 453 100%
Calle Ozumbilla, Mz 99 Lt 117, Los lérocs de
Abastecedora Escolar TAE, S.A. de Tecamae Seccién Bosques, Tecamac, 55764 State of 100%
C.V, Mexico (Registro Publico de la Propiedad de
Tlalnepantla, Estado de México)
Administradera de Colegios Pedro de Administradora de Colegios Pedro de Valdivia SpA, 100%
e e R . (]
Valdivia SpA Santiago, Chile
A Nippas Intemational Private School | by poy 54084, Dubai, UAE 49%
- : Av. de Chitelaine 35A N
Ark Holdings 5A 1219 Chételain. Geneva. Switzerland 100%
. o Av. de Chatelaine 95A o
ASC International House SA 1219 Chitelain, Geneva. Switzerland 100%
Level 13A-6, Menara Milenium, Jalan Damanlela,
Asia Pacific Schools Sdn. Bhd. Pusat Bandar Damansara. 50490, Kuala Lumpur. 100%
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International Schools Partnership Limited (Registered Number: 09817502)

Notes to the Company financial statements (continued)

3. Investments (continued)
Aspen Heights British School LILC ** PO Box 137352, Abu Dhabi, UAE. 0%
Aspen Heights Educational Facilities A . o
Management Sole Proprietorship LIL.C ** PO Box 33366, Abu Dhabi. UAE. 0%
British Education Management. 5.1.. Avenida Ceplaurea 8. 29018 Cerrado De Calderon. 100%
- Malaga Spain
Centro Educacional Escuels Catdlica ('QSta Rica, San JOSC'. S.ﬂma Ana, . ,
Activa. S A Pozos. one and a half kilomcter west from Banco 100%
civa, > A DAVIVIENDA
Claremont School (St. Leonards) Limited IO.O New Bridge Streel. London. ECAV 6JA. United 100%
Kingdom
. . - e Av Las Perdices 263, La Reina °
Colegio British Royal School SpA Santiago. Chile 100%
g;}\eglo Pedro de Valdivia Las Condes Av. Las Condes 13349, Las Condes. Chile 100%
g;’fg“’ Pedro de Valdivia Pefalolén Av. Quilin 5473, Pefalolén, Santiago, Chile 100%
Colegio Pedro de Valdivia Providencia Av. Pedro de Valdivia 1939. Providencia. Santiago.
. 100%
SpA Chile
Colegio San Jorge de Miraflores Av. General Ernesto Montagne N° 360, Miraflores, o
Y . , 100%
S.CR.L. Lima — Pert
Colegios Laude, SA Calle .[)()clo.r Fleming, 3, 10th floor - left, 28036 100%
Madrid Spain.
Compania Scolasticomp C. Lida Sar% Juarjl Alto de las Ricles 507 ¥ Av. Simon Bolivar, 160%
Quito- Ecuador
Corporacién CLR S.A.C. Av Genera’l Ernesto Montagne N° 360, Miraflores, 100%
[.ima — Peru
Ecole Mosaic SA Avenue Dumas 23, 1206 Geneve 100%
Level 13A-6, Menara Milenium, Jalan Damanlela,
Fondcarc Sdn. Bhd. Pusat Bandar Damansara, 50490, Kuala Lumpur, 100%
Wilayah Persekutuan, Malaysia.
Calle Heriberto Frias 1401, Celonia del Yalle Sur,
- - .. Y n Alcaldia Benito Juarcz, C,P, 03104, Mexico City, o
Formacién, Educacién ¥ Cultura, $.C. Mexico (Registro Publico de la Propiedad y del 0%
Comercio de la Ciudad de México)
. 3867 Plaza Tower Drive, Baton
by - I ‘] g a,
France Family Partners LLE Rouge, Louisiana 70816, 95%
l!‘amlllton !ntcmatlonal Development Mesaimeer 56 - street number 1117, building number o
Limited (formerly known as 117, Doha, Qatar 100%
Marlborough Group Limited) i ? ’
Manuel Payno No 40. Cindad Satélite. Municipio de
High School Thomas Jefferson, S.C. Naucalpan dc Juarcz, C.P. 53100, State of Mexico 100%
{Registro Publico de la Propiedad de Tlalnepantla)
3rd tloor, Belvedere Building, 28A Tran Hung Dao,
Hanot Toronto Joint Stock Company Phan Chu Trinh ward, Hoan Kiem District, Hanoi city, | 45.45%
Vietnam
Level 13A-6. Menara Milenium. Jalan Damanlela,
[Imu Bijak Bestari Sdn. Bhd.** Pusat Bandar Damansara, 50490. Kuala LLumpur, 0%
Wilayah Persekutuan, Malaysia,
Boulevard Miguel Cervantes Saavedra 169, piso 2,
[nmobiliaria de Mexico Mes, S.A. de Colonia Granda, Alcaldia Miguel Hidalgo C.P. 11520, 100%
C.V. Mexico City, (Registro Publice de la Propiedad y de °
Comercio de la Ciudad de México)
Inmobiliaria Emibu S.A. Dolores Sucre 302 and Nicolas Augusto Gonzalez, 100%

Guavaquil - Ecuador




International Schools Partnership Limited (Registered Number: 09817502)

Notes to the Company financial statements (continued)

3. Investments (continued)

Dolores Sucre 302 and Nicolas Augusto Gonzalez,

Rouge, Louisiana 70816

Inmaobiliaria Panamericana C.A. . 100%
Guayaquil - Ecuador.
Calle Amores 1620. Colonia Del Valle, Alcaldia Benito
Inmobiliaria Pel, S A. Juarez C.P. 03100, Mexico City, (Registro Piblico de la | 100%
Propiedad y de Comercio de la Ciudad de México)
Instituto Educativo Moderno De Plot No. 4, Km. 2.5 Via Samborondon, Samborondon,
< . oy o . 100%
Guayaquil Inemoquit C. Ltda. Guayas Provinee. Leouador,
Avenida Asteroides 1200, Colonia Rancho Sam
Instituto Thomas Jefferson Company Antonio, Municipio de Santiago de Querétaro. 100%
Querétaro, S.C. Queréiaro C.P. 76149 (Registro Pliblico de la Propiedad °
de Querétaro}
Vialidad Ramal La Tijera 1753, Municipio de
Instituto Thomas Jefferson Guadalajara. Tlajomulco de Zuiga, Localidad Las Amapas C.P. 100%
S.C. 45640 Guadalajara, Jalisco (Registro Piblico de la ?
Propiedad ¥ de Comercio de Jalisco)
Avenida Prolongacion Jesas 3431, Colonia Los
Instituto Thomas Jefferson Valle Real, Girasoles Municipio de Zapopan Guadalajara, Jalisco. 100%
S.C. C.P. 45130 (Registro Publico de la Propiedad y de °
Comercio dc Jalisco)

e s 3867 Plaza Tower Drive, Baton o
International Parents Trust, LL1.C Rouge, Louisiana 70816 100%
International Schools Partnership 100 New Bridge Street, London, EC4V 6JA, United o

. o . 100%
Scrvices Limited* Kingdom
Inversiones La Colina MCM, S.A.S. La Calera, Cundinamarca, Colombia 100%
Level 13A-6, Menara Milenium, Jalan, [Yamanlela,
Ipoh International School Sdn. Bhd. Pusat Bandar Damansara, 50490, Kuala Lumpur, 100%
Wilayah Persekutuan, Malaysia.
1209 Orange Street, Wilmington. "
ISP Baton Rouge, Inc. Delaware 19801 100%
. 711 Capitol Way South. Suite 204. Olympia, o
ISP Bellevue Inc. Washington 98501 100%
., . , 1200 South Pine Island Road, o
ISP Broward Holdings LLC Plantation, Florida 33324 100%
. . - 1200 South Pinc Island Road. o
ISP Broward L.1C Plantation, Florida 33324 100%
ISP Chile Limited (formerly PIL. Brazil 100 New Bridge Street, London, EC4V 6JA, United o
. .. ] 100%
Holdings 1 Limited}* Kingdom
ISP Chile SpA 5561 Oficina 401, Las Condes. Santiage Chile 100%
ISP Colombia Limited (formerly ISP 100 New Bridge Street, London, EC4V 6JA, United
. . 100%
Dormant 3 Limited)* Kingdom
15P Colombia SAS La Calera, Cundinamarca, Colombia 100%
ISP Costa Rica Limited* IQO New Bridge Sureet, London, EC4V 6] A, United 100%
Kingdom
. . 1209 Orange Street, Wilmington
1 . ] 3 o
ISP East Coast Holdings Inc Delaware 19801 100%
ISP Ecuador Limited* IQO New Bridge Street. London, EC4V 6JA, United 100%
Kingdom
ISP India Limited* ]QO New Bridge Street. London, EC4V 6JA, United 100%
Kingdom
ISP Kchoe Holdings LLC 3867 Plaza Tower Drive, Baton 95%
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Notes to the Company financial statements (continued)

3. Investments (continued)

100 New Bridge Street, London, EC4V 6JA. United

PIL. Mexico Holdings 2 Limited

Kingdom

[SP Malaysia Limited* - 100%
Kingdom
ISP North America Limited (formerly 100 New Bridge Strect. London, EC4V 6JA, United 100%
| PIL US Holdings Limited)* Kingdom °
ISP Peru Limitcd* ]QO New Bridge Street, London. EC4V 6JA, United 100%
Kingdom
. . 120% Orange Sireet, Wilmington,
]S S - > o,
P US Ioldings Inc Delaware 19801 100%
. 1200 South Pine Island Road
ISP US ¢ nt Co. . - : %
P US Management Co Plantation. Florida 33324 100%
N N . 02 land plot, Tay Ho Tay New Urban Area. Xuan Tao
IS < ; : LT . . >
P Vietnam Joint Stock Company Ward. Bac Tu Liem District. Hanoi ¢ily. Victnam 100%
ISP Victnam Limited* EQO New Bridge Street, London, EC4V 6JA, United 100%
Kingdom
- . 160 Greentree Drive, Suite 101
18 * 9 4 N 0,
P West Coast Holdings Inc Dover. Delaware 19904 100%
. 3867 Plaza Tower Drive, Baten
Kehoe-France D: . L : @
choe-France Day Camp, Inc Rouge, Lovisiana 70816 95%
3867 Plaza Tower Drive, Baton -
K -F . 49 ’ o,
ehos-France Inc Rouge. Louisiana 70816. 93%
KK Straits International Education Level 13A-6, M'cnara‘Mllemum. Jalan Damanlela, ;
Group Sdn. Bhd Pusat Bandar Damansara, 50490, Kuala Lumpur. 100%
| ) Wilayah Persekutuan, Malaysia
v 3000 Wachevia Financial Center, 200 South Biscayne o
Laro CG LLC Blvd, Miami, FL. 33131, USA 100%
Liceo Panamericano LESA S.A. l?olores S‘uc:lje 302 and Nicolas Augusto Gonealez, 100%
Guayaquil. Ecuador
7215 Millereek Drive, Mississauga, Ontario, o
Lynn Rose Corp Canada, LSN 3R3 100%
. 7215 Millereek Drive, Mississauga, Ontario.
Lynn- - [ne o
ynn-Rose College Inc. Canada, LSN 3R3 100%
N Via 8.G. Cottolengo, 25
M B ) ’ %
agafe 2 Sri 20143 Milan, ltaly 100%
. Via 5.G. Cottolengo, 25
M > o
ite Sl 20143 Milan. haly 100%
Muntazeh English School SPC (Park Bou Hamour 56. Mesaimeer Street. building number 100%
| House English School} 43, Doha. Qatar ’
Ouks International School Limited IQO New Bridge Street, London, EC4V 6JA, United 100%
Kingdom
P - - -
ermotio Consultancy DWC Dubai PO Box 54084. Dubai. UAE 100%
Branch
Permotio Consultancy DWC LLC PO Box 54084, Dubuai, UAE 100%
| PIL (Dubai} SPC | Ltd ** PO Box 54084, Dubai, UAE 0%
PIL Brazil Holdings 2 Limited lQO New Bridge Street, London, EC4V 6JA. United 100%
Kingdom
P11, Europe 1oldings Limited* lQO New Bridge Street, London, EC4V 6JA, United 100%
Kingdom
PIL Mexico Holdings | Limited* 100 New Bridge Strect, London, EC4V 6JA. United 100%
Kingdom
100 New Bridge Street, London, EC4V 6J A, United 100%
o
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Notes to the Company financial statements (continued)

Investments (continued)

PIL. Mexico SE (formerly Pictos S.A.P.I

Boulevard Migue] Cervantes Saavedra 169, piso 2.
Colonia Granda, Alcaldia Miguel Hidalgo C.P. 11520.

de CV) Mexico City (Registro Piblico de la Propiedad v de 100%
, Comercio de la Ciudad de México)
PIL Middle East Holdings Limited* IQ(} New Bridge Strect, London, EC4V 6JA, United 100%
i Kingdom
PIL UK Holdings I Limited* IQO New Bridge Street, London, EC4V 6JA, United 100%
. Kingdom
PIL UK Iloldings 2 Limited : IQO New Bridge Street. London. EC4V 6JA, United 100%
Kingdom
ifg‘f;“"” Management Consultaney g, 1w as East. PO Box 12986, Abu Dhabi. UAE 49%
Reach British School LLC ** Baniyas East, PO Box 12986, Abu Dhabi, UAE 49%
River Forest Partners LI.C 3867 Plaza T(_)wer Drive, Baton 95%
. Rouge, Louisiana 70816
Riviera Preparatory School Ioldings, 3000 Wachovia Financial Center, 200 South Biscayne 100%
LLC Blvd, Miami. FL 33131, USA
Rodriguez ¥ Maulén Educacional SpA Rodriguez y Maulén Educacional SpA Santiago, Chile 100%
Rowniree Montessori Shools Inc 3 Sunforest Drive, Brampton, Ontario 1.67 272, 100%
et . . N Level 13A-6, Menara Milenium, Jalan Damanlela, Pusat
S Straits International Education Group 4. 152 mansara, 50490, Kuala Lumpur, Wilayah 100%
Sdn. Bhd. ) y
Persekutuan, Malaysia
Star International Scheol LLC Al Twar School, 7th Street. Al Twar 2, Dubai, UAE 80%
2462 ResCowork(1, 24th Floor, Al Sila Tower, Abu
Star Schools Holding Limited Dhabi Global Market Square, Al Maryah Island, Abu 80%
_ Dhabi, United Arab Emirates
$t. Mary’s Edumangement Services ‘ The Exe(_:utive Center, Level 7.‘_()(:[3\’_6 3 B\-
Private Limited ! Salarpuria Sattva Knowl_edge City. Ilitech City. PO Box | 75%
| 500081, Hyderabad, India
‘ The Executive Center, Level 7, Octave 3 B,
St. Mary’s Society*** ! Salarpuria Sattva Knowledge City, Hitech City. PO Box | 0%
' 500081, Hyderabad, [ndia
Straits International Education Group Level 13A-6. Menara Milenium, Jalan Daman]ela. Pusat
Bandar Damansara. 50490, Kuata Lumpur. Wilayah 100%
Sdn. Bhd. f
. Persekutuan, Malaysia
Temple Cambridge Limited | 11(00 New Bridge Street, London, EC4V 6JA, United 100%
! Kingdom
! Level 13A-6, Mcnara Milenium, Jalan, Damanlcla,
Tenby Aman Sdn. Bhd. " Pusat Bandar Damansara, 50490. Kuala Lumpur, 100%
Wilayah Pcrsckutuan, Malaysia.
Level 13A-6, Menara Milenium, Jalan, Damanleia,
Tenby Ecohill Sdn. Bhd. . Pusat Bandar Damansara, 50490, Kuala L.umpur, 100%
_ Wilayah Persekutuan. Malaysia.
i Level 13A-6. Menara Milenium, Jalan, Damanleta,
Tenby Educare SDN. BHD. Pusat Bandar Damansara, 50490, Kuala Lumpur, 100%
Wilayah Persekutuan, Malaysia.
Level 13A-6, Menara Milenium, Jalan, Damanlela,
Tenby Education Sdn. Bhd.** . Pusat Bandar Damansara, 50490, Kuala Lumpur, 0%
. Wilayah Persekutuan, Malaysia.
Unit Level 13(A), Main Office Tower, Financial Park
Tenby Labuan Foundation** Labuan, Jalan Merdeka, 87000, Federal Territory of 0%

Labuan. Malaysia.
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Notes to the Company financial statements (continued)

3. Investments (continued)

Level 13A-6, Menara Milenium. Jalan Damanlela. Pusat

Tenby Rawang Sdn. Bhd. Bandar Damansara. 50490. Kuala Lumpur, Wilayah ; 100%
) Persekutuan, Malaysia. . ‘
Level 13A-6, Menara Milenium, Jalan Damanlela, Pusat
Tenby Southern Sdn. Bhd. Bandar Damansara, 50490, Kuala Lumpur, Wilayah 100%
Persekutuan, Malaysia.
Level I3A-6, Menara Milenium. Jalan Damanlela, Pusal
Tenby World Sdn. Bhd. Bandar Damansara. 50490, Kuala Lumpur. Wilayah 100%
Persekutuan, Malaysia.
The Aquila School Owned by Shaikh
Mohammed Maktoum Juma Al Maktoum | PO Box 26540, Dubai, UAE. 0%
One Person Company LLC (Aguila)** f
The Hamilton International School Mesaimeer 56 - strect number 1117, building number ‘ 49%
LLC** 117, Doha, Qatar.
Manuel Payno No 40, Ciudad Satélite. Municipio de
Thomas Jefferson Zona Esmeralda TJZE. | Naucalpan de Juarez, C.P. 53100. State of Mexico 100%
S.C. (Instituto de la Funcion Registral del Estado de México,
Oficina Tlalnepantla)
Costa Rica. San Jose, Santa Ana,
Ticnda Cincuenta Aniversario, S.A. Pozos, one and 2 half kilometers west from Banco 100%
DAVIVIENDA.
Torpequil [Inmobiliaria Torpimob S.A. La Modema Street. plot 3-1. Samborondon - Ecuador 100%
#712, Belvedere Building, 28A Tran Hung Dao, Phan
VietEd Vision Joint Stock Company Chu Trinh ward, Hoan Kiem District, Hanoi city, 100%
Victnam
Young Explorers Educational Services 7215 Millcreek Drive. Mississauga, Ontario. 100%
Inc. Canada, L5N 3R3

* These entitics arc direct subsidiaries of the Company: all others are indirectly held.

** Although the Company owns indircctly less than half of the shares of these cntitics, management has determined
that the Company indirectly controls them. This is by virtue of agreement with the companies” other shareholders
wherchy the Company excrcises management control over the entitics.

***The Group does not own equity interest in the company but centrols and operates the company through

contractual arrangements.
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Notes to the Company financial statements (continued)

4. Debtors: amounts falling due after more than one year
31 August 31 August
2022 2021
(in €000's)
Derivative instruments designated as hedges (note 8) 27913 -
Due from group undertakings 171,759 150,087
199,672 150,087

The debtors due from group undertakings are charged interest at 5.94%-10.46% (2021: 10.3313%).

5. Debtors: amounts falling due in less than one year

31 August 31 August
2022 2021

(in €000's)
Prepayments 551 1.003
Other debtors 863 1.787
Derivative instruments not designated as hedges (notc 8) 1,174 -
Due from group undertakings 25,325 50,770
27,913 23,560

The debtors duc from group undertakings are charged interest at 5.94%-10.46% (2021: 10.3313%).

6. Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year

31 August 31 August
2022 2021

{in €000’s)
Trade creditors 675 281
Bank loan accrued interest 5,703 4,818
Accruals 3,015 2,725
Amount owed to group undertakings 71.956 24965
81,349 32,789
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Notes to the Company financial statements (continued)

7. Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year

31 August 31 August

(in €000°s) 2022 2021
Bank loans 797.825 745,019
797,825 745,019

There aie three significanl bank loans that are all Euro denominated. The following amounts are drawn on the

available facilities as at 31 August 2022:
e  Term Loan 1 (€338.6m principal plus accrued interest) is repayable in July 2028.

®  Acquisition Facility {€432.9m principal plus accrued intcrest) is repayablc in July 2028.
e Revolving Credit Facility (€50m principal plus accrued interest) is repayablc in January 2028,

Included within the bank loan creditors are capitalised deal fees of €23.677.000 (2021: €30,495,000), which are

amortised over a period of 7 years.

The interest rates on the bank toans range from: Basc rate + 3%-5.75% plus Euribor.

8. Financial instruments

At year end the company has the following financial assets measured at fair value:

31 August
2021

31 August

(in €000's) 2022
Derivative instruments designated as hedges 27,913
Derivative instruments not designated as hedges 1.174
29,087

The Company enters into interest rate cap contracts to mitigate the interest rate risk on the bank loans.

As at 31 August 2022, the Group is holding three interest rate caps with a total nominal amount of €482.4m. The
interest rate caps have aterm of 3 years and are due to mature on 23 fanuary 2025, 26 February 2025 and 22 March
2025. The interest rate caps protect the Group from rate increases in the Euribor above 0.5%.

The interest rate cap contracts are measured at fair value, which is determined using valuation techniques that
utilise observable inputs. The key assumptions used in valuing the derivatives are the Euribor rates.

The impact of the cash flow hedge in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income (~OCI™), net

of tax, is as follows:

Total Amount
hedging Cost of reclassified
gain Ineffectiveness hedging from OCI Line item in the
recognised recognised in recognised to profitor statement of profit or
in OCI profit or loss in OCI loss loss
€000 €000 €000 €000
Interest rate caps (21.274) - 1.548 (745) Finance cost
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9. Provisions

Long-term Deferred tax

incentive plan liability Tatal

€000°s €000°s €000's

At | Scptember 2021 - - -
Arising during the year 890 4.627 5,517
At 31 August 2022 890 4,627 5,517

The deferred tax included in the statement of financial position is as follows:

2022
€000’
At ] September 2021 -
Deterred tax charge included in other comprehensive in respect to the fair value reserve 4,627
At 31 August 2022 4,627
10.  Share capital and share premium
31 August 31 August
2022 2021
Allotted, called up and fully paid € €
Share premium 394,476,573 464,476,572
Ordinary shares 14,019 14,019

During the vear, the previously issued class A, Al, B1, B2, C, D. and E ordinary shares were subdivided so that
each had a par value of €0.00001. The shares were subscquently redesignated as Ordinary shares at a par valuc of
€0.00001 per share. Each share has cquivalent rights.

An additional 3 Ordinary shares were issued at a premium of €19,814,557, €34.572.055 and €39,500.000
respectively.

The Company further resolved to reduce the share premium account by €163,886,611, with the amount to be
credited to the distributable reserve account.

In shares (thousands) A B1 Ordinary Al B2 C D E
On issuc at 1 September 2021 1,361 3 - 121 - 14 6 -
Sub-division of shares 1,361.561 3.054 - 1.207 36000 14 6 106
Change of share class desipnation (1.361.561) (3.054) 1,4G1 941 {1.207 (36000 (i) (6) {100}

Issued during the year - - - - - - - -

On jssue at 31 August 2022 - - 1,401,941 - - - - -
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11. Reserves
Called-up share capital — represents the nominal value of shares that have been issued.

Share premium — represents the amount paid by the sharcholders in excess of the Company’s share capital nominal
value.

Capital contribution reserve — represents contributions to the Company from its sharchelders. other than in
exchange for the issue of equity instruments.

Fair value reserve — represents the fair value movements on the derivative financial instruments accounted lor
using hedge accounting, net of tax.

Profit or loss account — includes all current and prior period retained profits and losses.

Other reserves related to the value of equity settled share-based payments reported in the Group consolidated
financial statements have not been included in the Company as the employces in the plan are not employed by the
Company.

12, Ultimate parent undertaking and controlling party

The ultimate parent company is International Schools Partnership I $.4.r.1, a company incorporated and registered
in Luxembourg. The immediatc controlling party is Permotio International Learning $S.a.rl, a company
incorporated and registered in Luxembourg.

This is the smallest and largest entity to consolidate the results of the company.

The ultimate controlling party is Partners Group Access 188 PY¥ [P, a partnership registered and designated in
Scotland,

13. Subsequent events

Acquisitions/subsidiaries
On 27 October 2022, ISP Poland Limited (UK resident) was incorporated as a 100% owned subsidiary of
International Schools Partnership Limited (UK resident).

On 30 November 2022, ISP Portugal S.A. (Portugal resident) was incorporated as a 100% owned subsidiary of
PIL Europe Holdings Limited (UK resident), a 100% owned subsidiary of International Schools Partnership
Limited (UK resident).

On 14 December 2022, Smacrocity Eduserve Private Limited (India resident) was incorporated as a 75% owned
subsidiary of ISP India Limited (UK resident), a 100% owned subsidiary of International Schools Partnership
Limited (UK resident}.

On 8 Scptember 2022, PIL Mexico SL (Mexico entity), a 100% owned subsidiary of PIL. Mexico lloldings 1
Limited (Mcxico entity), which is a 100% owned subsidiary of [ntcrnational Schools Partnership Limited (UK
resident), acquired the remaining 10% non-contrelling interest in Formacién, Educacion Y Cultura, $.C, taking
the Group’s ownership in the company to 100%. Consideration paid was €5,314,000.

On 12 October 2022, ISP North America Limited { UK resident), a 100% owned subsidiary of Inlernational Schoels

Partnership Limited (UK restdent), acquired 90% of the share capital of Boston School S.A. (Panama resideat).
I'he company was purchased for USD 13,546,000.
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Notes to the Company financial statements (continued)
13. Subsequent events (continued)

Acquisitions’subsidiaries (continued)

On 30 November 2022, Magafc 2 Srl (1taly resident), a 100% owned subsidiary of PIL Europe Holdings Limited
(UK resident), which is a 100% owned subsidiary of International Schools Partnership Limited (UK resident),
acquired 100% of the share capital of Centro Studi Superiori S.r.l. {Haly resident). The company was purchased
for €33,000,000.

On 17 December 2022, ISP India Limited (UK resident), a 100% owned subsidiary of International Schools
Partnership Limited (UK resident), acquired 100% of the share capital of Manthan Educational Selutions Private
Limitcd (India resident). The company was purchased for INR 3,061,600,000.

On 23 December 2022, ISP Poland Limited (UK resident), a 100% owned subsidiary of International Schools
Partnership Limited (UK resident), acquired 90% of the share capital of British Primary School of Wilanow sp.c.o
and British Nursery of Wilanow sp.z.0.0 (Poland residents). The company was purchased for PLN 88,155,248,

On 16 February 2023, Magafe 2 Srl (ltaly resident), a 100% owned subsidiary of PIL Europe Holdings Limitcd
(UK resident), which is a 100% owned subsidiary of International Schools Partnership Limited (UK resident),
acquired 100% of the share capital of Centro Studi Alexandria S.r.1. (Italy resident). The company was purchased
for €6.571,000,

The accounting for each of these acquisitions has not been [inalised to show the calculation of the goodwill on
acquisition.

Borrowings

I'here has been a total draw down of €286,600,000 from the acquisition facility to facilitate the post year end
acquisitions. The drawdowns occurred on 30 September 2022 for €81,100,000, 26 October 2022 for €135,800,000,
and 18 November 2022 for €189,700,000.

The €50,000,000 drawn on the Revolving Credit Facility at year end was repaid in full on 17 Octlober 2022,
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